

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Qualitative Examination of Strategies to Overcome Resistance to Change in Lean Manufacturing

Elizabeth Burmester *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Adult and Continuing Education Administration Commons</u>, <u>Adult and Continuing</u> <u>Education and Teaching Commons</u>, <u>Business Administration</u>, <u>Management</u>, <u>and Operations</u> <u>Commons</u>, <u>Communication Commons</u>, <u>and the Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods</u> <u>Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Elizabeth Burmester

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Robert DeYoung, Committee Chairperson, Management Faculty Dr. Jean Gordon, Committee Member, Management Faculty Dr. David Gould, University Reviewer, Management Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2017

Abstract

Qualitative Examination of Strategies to Overcome Resistance to Change in Lean

Manufacturing

by

Elizabeth Burmester

MBA, Chadron State College 2007

BA, Concordia University, 2003

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

September 2017

Abstract

Approximately 80% of lean manufacturing program initiatives are abandoned in the first year of implementation. Only 2% of organizations that embark on the lean journey complete it with the results and the sustainability they expected. There is a gap in past research regarding, the leadership strategies organizations can use to overcome resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations. The problem in this study was that leaders have limited information to overcome resistance to change when implementing these programs. The purpose of this study was to explore how leaders within manufacturing organizations may overcome resistance to change through leadership strategy. The conceptual framework was Kotter's 8 steps of change. Data were collected from 20 participant interviews with leaders who implemented lean manufacturing programs successfully and sustainably in their organizations. The data analysis for this study consisted of repeated reviews of transcription and audio-recorded data that resulted in the coding of themes from participant interviews. The data analysis resulted in 12 themes that emerged from significant statements made through participant responses. Results indicated that senior leadership participation and communication are the main strategies needed to overcome resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations. Followed by allowing employees to experiment with processes for their areas, training, and process alignment for a comprehensive strategy. The implications of positive social change within this study are to provide a positive perspective to organizational leaders looking to deploy lean manufacturing change initiatives and to help leaders overcome employee resistance to the organizational changes.

Qualitative Examination of Strategies to Overcome Resistance to Change in Lean

Manufacturing

by

Elizabeth Burmester

MBA, Chadron State College 2007

BA, Concordia University, 2003

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

September 2017

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to those who have supported me throughout my doctoral process. To my late parents who told me I could be anything, I wanted to be. I know you are not here to see this, but I know you are watching. To my brother, who was there to pick up the many responsibilities that I was unable to complete and to talk me out of my uncertainty, John I thank you. To those who doubted me, you encouraged me to settle for nothing less than excellence, for you I am grateful. Never give up on your dreams.

Acknowledgments

When I stand before God at the end of my life, I would hope that I would not have a single bit of talent left, and could say, "I used everything you gave me."

-Erma Bombeck

First, I would like to thank God for his compassion and guidance allowing me to complete this journey. Also, I would like to acknowledge the key people who helped to make this possible, without your support and unrelenting encouragement this would not be possible. Second, my interview participants, expert panel, without you and your expertise this research would not be possible. Third, the Walden University staff and Dr. Robert DeYoung, your wisdom, support, and unyielding guidance all were vital to the success of this work. Dr. Jean Gordon for your suggestions and clarifications, they were appreciated. Dr. David Gould for your assistance as my URR, your punctuality was admirable. Finally, to Beccy Smith who introduced me to this career path, that I did not know that I wanted. To my best friends Sandy Armetta and Heather Tran, for being my cheerleaders, sounding boards, for reminding me that someday, this would be finished and I would be "back to normal." To each of you, I thank you for helping me achieve this goal and finding my way; I could not have made this journey without you.

List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of the Study	2
Problem Statement	8
Purpose of the Study	9
Research Questions	9
Conceptual Framework	10
Definitions of Terms	12
Nature of the Study	14
Assumptions	17
Scope	
Delimitations	19
Limitations	
Significance of the Study	21
Significance to Practice	
Significance to Theory	
Significance to Social Change	
Summary and Transition	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	27
Literature Search Strategy	

Table of Contents

Conceptual Framework	
Literature Review	
Resistance to Change	
Transformational Leadership Strategies.	
Bass Transformational Leadership Theor	ry
Kotter's Eight Steps of Change	
Transactional Leadership	
Transformational/Transactional Leadersl	hip Theories 42
Burke and Litwin Model	
Bass and Avolio's Full Range Leadershi	p Model 45
Leadership Styles	
Visionary Leadership Style	
Coaching Leadership Style	
Affiliative Leadership Style	
Democratic Leadership Style	
Pacesetting Leadership Style	
Commanding Leadership Style	
Leadership Traits	
Change Management	
Understanding How Change Impacts Em	ployees60
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Method	

	Research Design and Rationale	
	Role of the Researcher	71
	Methodology	73
	Participant Selection Logic	73
	Instrumentation	
	Pilot Study	
	Interview Questions	
	Procedures for Recruitment	80
	Procedures for Participation	
	Procedures for Data Collection	
	Member Checking	
	Data Analysis Plan	
	Issues of Trustworthiness	86
	Credibility	
	Transferability	
	Dependability	
	Confirmability	91
	Ethical Procedures	91
	Summary	93
Cl	hapter 4: Results	94
	Research Questions	95
	Pilot Study	96

Research Setting	
Confidentiality	
Demographics	
Data Collection	101
Participants	
Transcription	
Member Checking	
Bracketing	
NVivo 11	
Data Analysis	
Data Saturation	
Coding of Data	107
Themes	
Participant Quotes	
Evidence of Trustworthiness	116
Credibility	
Transferability	
Dependability	
Confirmability	
Study Results	
Overall Results	
Research Questions	

Discrepant Cases/Nonconforming Data	125
Summary	126
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	129
Interpretation of Findings	129
Results Discussion	130
Limitations of the Study	136
Recommendations	138
Implications for Social Change	139
Conclusions	143
References	146
Appendix A: Introduction Cover Letter	169
Appendix B: Participant Identification Demographics	170
Appendix C: Interview Questions	171
Appendix D: Thank You Letter	173
Appendix E: Expert Panel Introduction Cover Letter	174
Appendix F: Expert Panel Questionnaire Review	175

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant Demographics	101
Table 2. Themes by Participant	111
Table 3. Number of References Coded for Each Participant by Theme	112

List of Figures

Figure 1	Kotter's eight steps of	change40)
----------	-------------------------	----------	---

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Lean manufacturing programs can help an organization reach its goals and the leadership strategies needed to overcome resistance to changes within the organization. This study includes the reasons why employees resist change, and I explore the leadership strategies required to overcome employee resistance and guide them through organizational change efforts. Earlier authors acknowledged leadership strategies for overcoming employee resistance to change (Aba, 2013; Aborne, 2012; Ngambi & Nkemkiafu, 2015; Prince, 2013), but not those needed for successful implementation of overcoming resistance to change in the area of lean manufacturing. Many theorists have developed models for change management (Burke & Litwin, 1992; Kotter, 1996) and leadership strategies to carry out change within an organization (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Coch & French, 1948; Lewin, 1947). The qualitative phenomenological research method of inquiry was used to collect data for this study. The phenomenological design allowed me to collect the lived experiences of leaders who have overcome resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs. The conceptual framework of this study was made up of a system of concepts, assumptions, expectations, beliefs, and theories that supported the study design (Miles & Huberman, 1994).

I focused on the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change in lean manufacturing implementations. The significance of this research was that it may add to the body of knowledge to address leadership strategies for the successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs. The data from this study may have social change significance for manufacturing leaders, organizations, and other stakeholders in the manufacturing or surrounding industries. This chapter outlines the problem statement and the purpose of this study. It also identifies the research questions and explores the significance of the study, providing a rationale for why this study is important, assumptions and limitations, the nature of the study, and the definitions of the principal terms used throughout the study.

Background of the Study

Leaders need strategies to overcome resistance to change within organizations undergoing or planning to undergo lean manufacturing program implementations (Aba, 2013; Aborne, 2012; Ngambi & Nkemkiafu, 2015; Prince, 2013). The goals of any organizational lean program change effort are for improvements in the areas of quality, financial performance, production, and continuous improvement, though many have the same problem: Resistance to change within the organization (Aba, 2013; Aborne, 2012; Ngambi & Nkemkiafu, 2015; Prince, 2013). Internal skepticism and resistance while implementing change is a problem that many leaders have in common, and they lack the ability to overcome the skepticism and resistance. This problem was common throughout past studies, such as Coch and French (1948), Bass and Avolio (1994), and Lewin (1947), none of which addressed the leadership strategies needed for overcoming resistance to change to achieve the successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs. This research may help fill the gap between successful lean manufacturing program implementation and overcoming employee resistance to change by providing leadership strategies to assist in successful implementation.

Businesses are continually exploring ways to improve their bottom line. Lean manufacturing is part of the next generation of improvement methodologies. The lean methodology has changed in recent years, from a simple single process to one that has evolved into a group of highly complex processes that encompass the entire business system. Over most of the last decade, research focused on lean manufacturing principles such as waste reduction and faster, more efficient processes. The single biggest barrier to program success is employee resistance (Goodridge, Westhorp, Rotter, Dobson, & Bath, 2015) and even one employee's resistance can divert project progress.

Leadership strategy has been defined as the organization's leadership requirements to include the skills, behaviors, and capabilities of the leaders (Coltea & Leonard, 2013). A leader's leadership strategy is responsible for 30% of the company's bottom line effectiveness regarding program implementation (Coltea & Leonard, 2013). The strategies leaders need consist of several key elements, starting with creating a vision (David, Avery, Witt, & McKay, 2015). Leadership strategy is the ability to influence others and to make voluntary decisions that enhance the prospects of an organization's long-term success. Leadership processes are teachable and need to be reviewed periodically as new information becomes available (May, 2011). The primary job of any member of organizational leadership is to get results as quickly and efficiently as possible (Copeland, 2013).

Leadership strategy is what puts into action a leader's vision. This vision should be practical and based on the examination of internal and external factors that direct goals and resource allocations to achieve meaningful results (Copeland, 2013; Thompson, Peteraf, Gamble, & Strickland, 2014). Companies must decide ahead of time what results they are looking to achieve and establish an organizational vision. Failure to plan and communicate the organization's vision is the second biggest reason for lean manufacturing program implementation failure (Yang, 2012). With a proper vision in place, organizational leaders can align responsibilities and actions to reach organizational goals.

Successful leadership strategies must consider potential resistance to change on the part of the organizational members. Resistance to change is a person's resistance to loss of control or ability decide what to do, resulting in fear, lack of cooperation, and dissatisfaction (Millett, 2011). The act of resistance can interfere with the development of today's organizations and continuous improvement of processes. The human brain biologically interprets change as stress. Not all stress is bad, but when employees feel as though a crisis or uncomfortable situation could develop this pressure creates a reaction of noncompliance (Reisel, Chia, Maloles, & Slocum, 2013). I explored how leaders implementing lean manufacturing programs can influence resistance to change through leadership strategy.

A leader's strategy during lean program implementation is not about trial and error, or the needs of management. It is about the needs of the employees to implement the actions required to achieve the organization's goals. Collins (2001) stated, "People are not your most valuable asset, the RIGHT people are" (p. 5). Leaders must understand the work involved and provide appropriate conditions for their employees to implement lean manufacturing processes because if senior leadership is not driving the transformation, it will fail regardless of the actions taken by leaders at lower levels (Marynell, 2013). Earlier research uncovered the specific leadership strategies that lead to comfort and satisfaction for employees (Zacher, Pearce, Rooney, & McKenna, 2014). There is limited understanding of how leadership strategy develops and overcomes the resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations (Marynell, 2013). As a result, this research included an attempt to develop a deeper understanding of the leadership strategies that can be applied to lean manufacturing program implementations to overcome employee resistance to change.

The literature included selected articles on leadership strategies that leaders may use to overcome organizational resistance during the implementation of lean manufacturing programs. Kotter (1996), in a review of leadership change, developed a new strategic operating system for change with a traditional performance operational system. In his work on how leadership struggles with change management, Badaracco (2013) outlined the *new invisible hand*. Badaracco then explained how leaders successfully and responsibly could overcome these challenges by providing valuable, practical lessons on overcoming resistance. Leaders can use intuition, passion, and commitment of employees to overcome challenges rather than force and control.

In their leadership model, Burke and Litwin (1992) explored the 12 theoretical dimensions of change and the culture/climate aspects of an organization to show the differences between the transformational and transactional variables within an organization. This model provided information on incorporating a logical structure within business processes, culture, and external factor analysis. The 1992 version of this study

has been modernized from the original Burke and Litwin 1948 model, which was composed of only eight theoretical dimensions. The gap in the literature was the lived experience of leaders who have overcome resistance to change and implemented lean manufacturing programs successfully.

Millett (2011) laid the initial groundwork presenting a need for leadership strategy used by leaders for effective change management in organizations. This research explored how the leadership team's behaviors have a direct impact on change management within an organization. True change agents have a vision and see what is beyond reasonable business practices to act on change, what could be, and how to get there (Millett, 2011). This shift in leadership mentality, when combined with lean program processes, can create success for an organization (Nikolaou, Gouras, Vakola, & Bourantas, 2007).

The earlier literature addressed the leadership strategies needed to overcome resistance to change. Deschamps, Rinfret, Lagacé, and Privé, (2016) explored ways that leadership strategies can be used effectively to influence employee well-being, to increase motivation, and to gain employee productivity by removing insecurities and obtaining commitment to the organization. The authors explored the use of the transformational leadership model and how idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration were used to implement longlasting change (Deschamps et al., 2016). Leadership is a process of multiple interactions with followers where leaders are continually persuading and altering employees' behaviors until the goals of an organization are met (Chin, 2015). The leadership strategies used to overcome resistance during lean manufacturing program implementation has not been previously addressed. Leaders need to establish clear measures related to processes and create conditions in which sustainable change is possible (Marynell, 2013). It is essential for organizational leadership to understand the human elements of change and the implications of employee contributions to make positive change. Leadership efficiency has a direct influence on an organization's change abilities. Trained leaders can prepare employees for change, share their vision, and develop clear and consistent communication strategies to reduce resistance and to improve change results (Bateh, Castaneda, & Farah, 2013). Leaders who understand why past lean manufacturing programs failed can help organizations develop programs focused on success.

Past studies have addressed leadership strategies during change, but there is a gap in the literature for leadership strategies needed to overcome resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations (de Vries, Bakker-Pieper, & Oostenveld, 2010; Marynell, 2013; Zacher et al., 2014). I designed this study to explore the leadership strategies needed to overcome resistance to change within an organization and to explore the lived experiences of leaders who have successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs in the past. The intent of this research was to add to the body of knowledge required to address the leadership strategies for the successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs.

Problem Statement

Lean manufacturing has changed in recent years, from a simple single process to one that has evolved into a set of highly complex processes. Lean manufacturing methods now encompass an entire business system, which can save an organization from \$250 to \$250,000 or more annually (Coltea & Leonard, 2013). As of 2016, more than 70% of lean manufacturing program change initiatives failed; the main reason for failure is employee resistance to change (Coltea & Leonard, 2013). Earlier research was missing ways that leadership can overcome employee resistance to change (Marynell, 2013) and the leadership strategies required to do so for successful lean manufacturing program implementations.

There is limited understanding of the leadership strategies needed for executing significant change initiatives that will influence organizational culture and support the implementation of lean practices. How leaders determine the correct leadership strategy to implement and prepare their employees for the challenges of change and successful lean program implementation may not be fully understood (Aba, 2013; Marynell, 2013; Ngambi & Nkemkiafu, 2015; Prince, 2013). For change leaders, understanding one's employees is vital to success.

The general problem was that lean manufacturing programs are ineffectively implemented 98% of the time (Atkinson, 2013). Of the 2% of programs that are initially executed successfully, less than 24% can sustain long-term results (Atkinson, 2013). The specific problem was that leaders lack the information needed to overcome resistance to change when implementing lean manufacturing programs. Organizational change

requires specific leadership strategies carried out through a transparent and wellcommunicated vision, from the senior leadership to the lower levels of the organization (Petouhoff, Chandler, & Montag-Schmaltz, 2006).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore leaders' lived experiences of overcoming resistance to change and the leadership strategies they used, specifically in the areas of lean manufacturing implementation. In previous research, the correlation concerning program structure and consideration increased an organization's overall positive performance in lean management implementations (David et al., 2015; de Vries et al., 2010; Zacher et al., 2014). The intent of this study was to focus on the leadership strategies needed for successful organizational lean program change.

Leaders can use many skills within their strategies to overcome resistance to change. The skills for a well-rounded leadership strategy are communication, charismatic leadership, human relations leadership, task oriented guidance, and leadership conclusions (David et al., 2015). These skills have been used in other types of implementations and process change practices and may assist in successful lean manufacturing program implementations (David et al., 2015).

Research Questions

I explored the leadership strategies used in manufacturing organizations to overcome resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs. I collected data based on the lived experiences of leaders who have influenced change management through lean manufacturing program implementation by addressing the strategies needed to overcome employee resistance. The research questions that guide this study are as follows:

RQ1: What are the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change in successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs?

RQ2: What are the lived experiences of leaders who overcame resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs?

Conceptual Framework

The primary focus of this study was the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change within the manufacturing environment while implementing lean programs. By understanding why resistance to change exists, leaders can develop strategies to overcome the resistance. Employee resistance to change develops from a multitude of broken agreements, poorly written processes, and trust violations with a leadership whose destructive actions can develop negative employee attitudes, resulting in significant resistance (Reisel et al., 2013). The absence of communication between leaders and employees is one reason resistance occurs within an organization.

Lewin (1958) is referred to as the grandfather of change management. He believed that change meets strong resistance when there is not an overall agreement between leadership and employees on the end goal. A current framework for overcoming resistance to change in organizations uses a three-step system approach developed by Lewin. Lewin's systems approach is still current today but is very general, allowing it to be adaptable to a variety of organizations. A review of Burke and Litwin (1992), a model of leadership, change, and performance stating how these leadership processes, when combined with a plan of action such as Lewin's (1958), provide a clear well thought out vision, can overcome even the strongest employee resistance.

Burns (1978), the developer of transformational leadership, suggested that leadership is a very involved process that requires the participation of leaders and employees at all levels of the organization. He also emphasized the process of leadership development and influence while considering each employee's sensitivities to change. The leadership must coordinate their development needs with those of their employees to foster a mutual collaboration for improved morale and progress by both parties. Burns described the transformational leader as a person who gains the followers' level of consciousness on the significance of a desired outcome and the approach that will be used to reach the desired outcome.

Researchers' such as Pryor, Tanja, Humphreys, Anderson, and Singleton (2008) insisted that conflict and resistance are typical reactions to change and should be expected and planned for in the organizational planning strategies. Individual resistance can be multidimensional in how each person responds to change (Pryor et al., 2008). Processes should be put in place to allow each employee to work through the resistances they have. Proactive organizational leaders can lead change, manage its effects, and develop employees all while growing their organizations (Millett, 2011). These proactive leaders that are true change agents who have a vision and see what is beyond normal business practices to act on change and what could be and how to get there (Millett, 2011). Visionary leaders believe in the organization's employees as their greatest asset and protect its culture while assuming responsibility for its success or failure.

Today's organizational leaders need to understand the affiliative leadership strategy. Affiliative leadership is used to gain movement on program implementation through positive leadership support and compromise with employees (Kibben, 2012). Adding to the affiliative strategy is that of the democratic strategy, which is part of the participative system (Anderson, 2015). The democratic leader can make group members feel content and exhilarated to share their thoughts and ideas with the group, which leads to progressive change (Eken, Özturgut, & Craven, 2014).

Organizational leaders need to assess the internal competencies of employees, leaders, and current processes before making any hasty changes. Once the needed changes for the organization are created, leaders are better able to determine what actions are required for employees to make the changes possible. When resistances are known, leaders can make strategic change decisions to overcome the resistant behaviors and progress with lean manufacturing program implementation.

Definitions of Terms

Best practice: A term used to describe actionable guidelines needed to implement practices for improving performance for the organization (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003).

Change management: An organizational method to move individuals, teams, and organizations using methods to redirect resources, processes, budgets, or other operational actions to reach a common goal for the organization (Creasey, Taylor, Demailly, & Brighton, 2014).

Corporate culture: A group of shared values, attitudes, standards, and beliefs within an organization and entrenched in the organization's approaches, structure, strategies, and goals (Inabinett & Ballaro, 2014). Corporate culture is a common set of values, attitudes, practices, and beliefs that characterize members of an organization and define its nature.

Employee empowerment: Giving the ability for employees to make decisions and interpret processes according to their points of view to reach goals (Arneson & Ekberg, 2006).

Globalization: Glaobalization is the economic, social, and cultural issues that represent an international system (Radoi & Olteanu, 2015; van Paasschen, 2015).

Leadership strategy: Focuses on the innovative strategies of an organization and an enterprise and then combines the two for an overall practice used to inspire a shared vision (Politis, 2006).

Lean manufacturing: Referred to as lean; key fundamentals: (a) a definition of value, (b) flow production, (c) pull replenishment, (d) placing a constant emphasis on the reduction of waste, and (e) striving for perfection (Karim & Arif-Uz-Zaman, 2013). Lean manufacturing was developed in the 1950s by Toyota and Ohno and is used to detect waste and increase efficiencies to reach a higher level of performance within an organization (Becker, 2001).

Six Sigma: Six Sigma is a set of tools used to enable an organization to analyze processes and create improvements to achieve the quality that strives for near perfection

(Yahia, 2011). Six Sigma uses a quality measurement implemented by organizations expecting cost savings and processes that are more efficient.

Transformational leadership: A process of leadership that is changing and challenging, enabling, visioning, rewarding, and contests employees from a leadership perspective (Aarons, 2006). Transformational leadership possesses attributes of charisma, inspirational stimulation, and individualized consideration (Aarons, 2006). The four common strategies related to transformational leadership are vision, social architects, trust, and creative deployment of one's self through supportive self-regard (Marynell, 2013).

Transactional leadership: Transactional leadership is a way of motivating employees by offering reward and punishments for compliance. Transactional leaders have official power and positions of responsibility in an organization (Clinebell, Skudiene, Trijonyte, & Reardon, 2013). Tosi (1982) has previously defined transactional leadership as actions taken to concentrate on implementing strategies by improving the hierarchical organization and rewarding employee performance with active management by exception behavior.

Nature of the Study

A qualitative phenomenological research method of inquiry was used. Data collection occurred using semistructured open-ended interviews. The phenomenological design was appropriate for collecting data that are naturally occurring through practices in the manufacturing environment and by conducting interviews with leaders who have implemented lean manufacturing programs in the past to determine their experiences and successes (Giorgi, 2012). The phenomenology design provides a depth of insight and rich context from participants on leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change (D. Smith, 2015).

The phenomenological design, as indicated by Giorgi (2012), is an approach to revealing the combination of science, psychology, and adding necessary concepts from Husserl to describe the living world. Scholars use the phenomenological design to inquire on peoples' experiences about a phenomenon and their interpretations those experiences. Phenomenological design describes the lived experiences through a data-driven approach to an issue and multiple examples of the phenomenon presented with variations that are relatively restricted due to conditions of the used examples (Giorgi, 2012).

The qualitative phenomenological research method allows for the exploration of leader lived experiences from multiple manufacturing entities and for the review of how leadership strategies lead to successful lean manufacturing program implementations. Using the qualitative phenomenological research method, I explored the resistance to change within lean manufacturing programs encountered by leaders while implementing lean programs at their facilities. The semistructured interview process allowed me to collect data from leaders who had implemented lean manufacturing change and the actions taken to overcome resistance while implementing these programs through leadership strategy.

The phenomenological research method is an examination of human experience through interviews with leaders who have implemented lean manufacturing programs successfully and overcome resistance to change. The references used in this qualitative phenomenological research method were from the works of Giorgi (2012) and the phenomenological practice of Husserl (1962) and Moustakas (1994). The extent of literature on the qualitative phenomenological research method can offer utility and can assist in the understanding of the organizational change phenomenon (Burgoyne & Hodgeson, 1983; Edwards, Cable, Williamson, Lambert, & Shipp, 2006; Johnson & Klee, 2007; Kupers, 2002).

A qualitative phenomenological research design provides a narrative to develop, providing a broader understanding of the leadership strategies needed for overcoming resistance to change (Conklin, 2014). The phenomenological exploration is defined as an experience from the first person point of view, with relevant conditions of experience in an exchange (Conklin, 2014). In this study, the experience is resistance to change as experienced by organizational leaders during lean manufacturing implementation and the strategies used to overcome resistance to change.

Interviews from previous qualitative phenomenological research reveal these experiences:

- Data collection for the phenomenological study is completed with a small number of participants. The participants then describe the meaning of the phenomenon, for those who have experienced it (Conklin, 2014; Giorgi, 2012).
- The use of the semistructured interviews will allow the researcher to retrieve and code data promptly and include probing questions for additional information (Giorgi, 2012).

Grounded theory was considered for this study to derive trends through analysis (Glaser, 2016; Varda, Jo, & Miller, 2012). Grounded theory would have allowed me to create a theoretical model through the analysis of clusters or trends in represented data, allowing the framework to explore the phenomenon (Varda et al., 2012). This theory would have worked for the data analysis portion of this study with the open-ended interview questions, but I did not want to develop a theoretical model.

Assumptions

This study included sources that emerged from online searches within the Walden University Library. The research process included a review of the library materials including books, peer-reviewed articles, and journals that covered the qualitative and phenomenological viewpoints to identify standard practices, trends, processes, and comparisons. I assumed that library materials including the books, peer-reviewed articles, and journals used were free from any information misstatements.

Participants answered interview questions, and the expectation was that they would all respond to the interview questions honestly and to the best of their ability. Participants were given anonymity, and their names and organizations remained confidential. Individuals may perceive situations differently, and I made every effort to ensure that qualified participants were used. There is no way to confirm that the participants responded to the interview questions in a truthful manner. A final assumption is that the qualified participants would understand the confidentiality of the study and would answer questions to the best of their ability to ensure an open and straightforward dialogue between the participants and me as the researcher.

Scope

The scope of this research was the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change in lean manufacturing implementations. The philosophy of lean manufacturing programs is to reduce waste within the organization, improve resource usage, document processes, and establish a culture of continuous improvement (Karim & Arif-Uz-Zaman, 2013). This philosophy focuses away from leadership "optimizing separate technologies, assets, and vertical departments to optimizing the flow of products and services through entire value streams that flow horizontally across technologies, assets, and departments" to continuously improve both internal and external customer satisfaction (Karim & Arif-Uz-Zaman, 2013, para. 16).

I explored the leadership strategies for lean program implementations and ways that leaders may be able to overcome resistance to change. Lean manufacturing program implementations are successful less than 30% of the time (Coltea & Leaonard, 2013). Even when implemented successfully, many of the processes are not sustainable due to employee resistance from within the organization (Coltea & Leonard, 2013). The skills needed for a well-rounded leadership strategy are communication, charismatic leadership, human relations, task oriented guidance, and leadership conclusions (Goodridge et al., 2015). Organizational leaders need to understand why employees resist change. The main reason resistance occurs is due to fear. Employees fear change regarding social status, security, performance, and social relations. Employee concerns and fears need to be addressed by the leadership to move the project forward (Kathuria, Partovi, & Greenhaus, 2010). Transformational leadership was explored in this study to help overcome the resistance to change that takes place in organizations undergoing lean manufacturing implementations. Leaders should be active participants in transformational leadership by providing resources and rewards to employees in exchange for employee motivation, productivity, and reaching goals (Wang et al., 2011). Some of the behaviors seen in transformational leaders are an idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration, and these leaders are feedback seeking, employee empowering, and open to change to overcome resistance (Wang et al., 2011).

Delimitations

Delimitations are the defining boundaries that arise from the limitations addressed in the scope. Delimitations are made by conscious inclusionary and exclusionary decisions during the research process (Simon & Goes, 2013). The use of the qualitative research method in this study involved the purposeful sampling method. This sampling method ensured the most appropriate participants were selected for the study. A qualitative phenomenological research method could involve as few as five participants (Garcia & Gluesing, 2013). The use of a small number of participants who contribute to the study allows the participants' lived experiences to be established, which gains a better insight into the event than with a larger number (Giorgi, 2012).

The sample size for this study was 20 qualified leaders, at which point saturation had occurred. Qualified leaders in this study had at least 5 years of lean manufacturing experience. They also had successfully implemented a lean manufacturing program within the last 3 years. A delimiting factor of sampling was the participants' right to remove themselves from the study or stop the interview process at any time, affecting the sample size.

Limitations

The boundaries of this study were limited to the interview participants in this study. The credibility of the study is limited to the interview questions and answers to those questions (Leung, 2015). To mitigate the risks to this study, I used the semistructured, open-ended interview questions to gain participants' lived experiences. Due to the nature of the research topic and the locations of participants, I used Skype to conduct interviews.

A limitation of the interview participant group could have been the relationship between the participants and me. I have previously implemented lean manufacturing programs within small to large organizations. Many of the participants were my peers and may or may not have the same exposure to lean implementations that I have had. This relationship could have limited or enhanced the amount of feedback the interview participants gave. I am familiar with most lean manufacturing programs available, and that familiarity could have affected the perception of comments or behaviors of the participants during the interview process. I used bracketing to withhold any personal experiences or personality and emotional conflicts within the manufacturing and lean program implementation areas that could affect the exchange of information.

Bracketing is a term used in qualitative research to separate ideas, experiences, and thoughts of the researcher from those of the interview participants during the data collection-processes. Phenomenological practices in social science research include bracketing. Bracketing is an approach that allowed the interview process to derive the lived experiences from participants and to determine meaning that is independent of all particular events, in context with the common sense world, with all judgments deferred (Bentz, 1995). I used bracketing in this study to control unintended bias during the interview process (Chan, Fung, & Chien, 2013).

Significance of the Study

The significance of this research is that it adds to the body of knowledge needed to address the leadership strategies for overcoming resistance to change in organizations implementing lean manufacturing programs. Lean manufacturing programs are used to align processes to current practices and increase operational effectiveness and efficiencies along with an ongoing effort to improve products and services over time (McGrath, 2013). Previous researchers identified the leadership strategies required for overcoming resistance to change, but an additional study on how to overcome resistance to organizational change for success in lean manufacturing program implementations was required (Marynell, 2013; McGrath, 2013). These strategies are significant because once leaders can understand where the resistance is coming from they can meet the employees' needs and move beyond the concerns. To gain a better understanding of how to overcome resistance.

Leaders need to understand employee resistance behaviors to understand better how to overcome these behaviors. Organizational leaders need to understand the reasons for employee resistance. Resistance to change by employees is an emotional or behavioral response to real or imagined threats (Erwin & Garman, 2010). This employee resistance, if not managed by leaders, can disrupt the entire lean program implementation effort.

Transformational leadership may help to overcome resistance to change that takes place in organizations undergoing lean manufacturing implementations. Management may be an active participant in transformational leadership by providing resources and rewards in exchange for motivation, productivity, and reaching goals (Wang et al., 2011). Several of the behaviors seen in transformational leaders are proactiveness, feedback seeking, employee empowering, and openness to change, which can be used to overcome resistance (Wang et al., 2011).

Significance to Practice

Change does not happen by itself, so the implementation of a lean manufacturing program within an organization is a planned change. Employee acceptance of change depends on the perception of the change by the employee. It is an initial human reaction for employees to resist changes they do not understand (Kotter & Schlesinger, 2008). Leaders can use the strategies described in this dissertation to create transformational practices and plans for their organizations to help overcome resistance to change. People resist change when they do not comprehend its significance and feel that the change will affect them in an undesirable way (Kotter & Schlesinger, 2008). The importance of this research may add to the body of knowledge to address the leadership strategies for overcoming resistance to change for the successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs.
The most common way for leaders to overcome resistance to change is to teach employees about the change, communicate what is taking place, encourage feedback, and present the plan of action to implement the change. These measures help employees see the need for change and apply logic to the actions so the desired results can repeatedly be achieved (Kotter & Schlesinger, 2008). Leaders can share the organization's vision and emphasize how all team members will be part of the change. Organizational leaders can provide change education to employees in many different forms such as one-on-one discussions, presentations to groups, or memos and reports that are all vital for communication of the organization's vision (Kotter & Schlesinger, 2008).

Significance to Theory

I chose the qualitative phenomenological research method for this study because this approach allowed for data collection from leaders regarding their lived experiences overcoming resistance during lean manufacturing program implementations. This design is used mainly in the scientific fields to explain and understand a phenomenon as lived by others (Giorgi, 2012). It allowed for the description of events by manufacturing leaders who have lived the experience of overcoming resistance during lean manufacturing program implementations.

The phenomenological design allowed me to explore the lived experiences of leaders who have overcome resistance to change in lean manufacturing programs and the leadership strategies used to do so. Employee resistance is a complex problem within organizations implementing lean program change. Organizational leaders can learn from each other to effectively overcome resistance to change and work through change processes by gaining knowledge from other leaders who have overcome the same problems. Past leaders can offer a variety of different ways current leaders can try to approach various changes in manufacturing facilities.

Significance to Social Change

There are several implications for positive social change included in this study. Positive social change is a positive social consequence used to help society move forward on an issue. The issues can be a cultural, religious, economic, scientific, or technological factor that raises awareness and understanding and attempts to create an attitudinal change (Kibben, 2012). Change is used to increase knowledge in a policy or position that builds on public impact to change an injustice (Kibben, 2012). An increase in training and exposure to new methods can help individual employees within their current positions or may offer skills for potential advancement.

A leader's knowledge and leadership skills can set expectations and standards to help facilitate change, and this exchange of information can ease employees into the organizational change process. Employees and leaders can gain a greater understanding of how the change process works within an organization to build on or add to an existing model their organizations may currently use to allow for the exchange of information. Ninety-two percent of adults agreed the best way, to get people involved in a cause is to give them the knowledge to learn from the experience and to let them become a part of change (Walden University, 2014). By using leadership strategies leaders can help employees prepare for tasks that would not normally be in their focus area. The data from this study may have social change significance for manufacturing leaders, organizations, and other stakeholders in the manufacturing or surrounding industries interested in implementing lean manufacturing programs. Lean manufacturing is a business plan and methodology for organizations proving concepts, methods, and tools for transformational change. Lean manufacturing program implementation helps leaders understand the shift from one paradigm to another to improve processes and solve problems. The results of this systemic approach are measured in the results it produces in the areas of quality, cost, delivery, and customer satisfaction for the organization and its employee's satisfaction (Snee, 2010).

Summary and Transition

Being prepared for the competition is not a choice, but a matter of survival for organizations. To compete in the global marketplace, organizations need processes in place to increase the bottom line most efficiently and effectively. Lean manufacturing is part of the next generation of improvement methodologies. Before lean manufacturing programs are implemented in organizations, employees' resistance to the change needs to be considered and addressed. The purpose of Chapter 1 is to highlight the leadership strategies to overcome employees' resistance to change during the implementation of lean manufacturing programs.

Organizational leaders need to understand why the resistance is occurring in their organization to help overcome the problem. Leaders have the ability to correct the problems and move forward toward program implementations, leading to successful change, once they discover the cause of the resistance. Organizational leadership and

their understanding of the core traits are necessary to implement strategies to overcome resistance, which is a strategic approach to transformational change management.

In Chapter 2, I provide a literature review on lean manufacturing, resistance to change, overcoming change, and the leadership traits needed to overcome resistance to change. Chapter 3 will include an examination of research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, methodology, and issues that I encountered throughout the study and data collection processes. Chapter 4 will include a description of the data collection and interpretation of the study. Chapter 5 will conclude with study recommendations, implications for positive social change, and recommendations for future study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Lean manufacturing has evolved in recent years from a simple single process to a set of highly complex processes. These processes now encompass an entire business system, which can save an organization from \$250 to \$250,000 or more annually (Coltea & Leonard, 2013). As of 2016, more than 70% of lean manufacturing program change initiatives failed, and the main reason for the failure was employee resistance to change (Coltea & Leonard, 2013).

The general problem is that lean manufacturing programs are ineffectively implemented 98% of the time (Atkinson, 2013). Of the 2% of programs that are effectively implemented, less than 24% of those programs are successful and able to sustain long-term results (Atkinson, 2013). The specific problem is that leaders lack the information needed to overcome resistance to change when implementing lean manufacturing programs. The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore leaders lived experiences of overcoming resistance to change and the leaderships' strategies they used, specifically in the areas of lean manufacturing implementation.

The goal of this literature review is a comprehensive consideration of the literature from the field of leadership strategies and traits to overcome employee resistance during the implementation of lean manufacturing programs. Lean manufacturing is a set of highly complex processes, and for an organization to achieve success through those processes, the leaders and employees must fully support the culture of process improvement (Testani & Ramakrishnan, 2012). The concepts of this qualitative phenomenological study was explored, examined, linked, and contrasted within this chapter.

The analysis included the review of the literature, peer-reviewed journal articles, and books by leading theorists in the field and leaders who have implemented lean manufacturing programs in the past. The literature review focused on elements within the lean manufacturing field that relate to each area of the study. The use of the qualitative phenomenological research method allowed for literature reviews and semistructured interviews to improve the understanding of the leadership strategies used by leaders to overcome the resistance to changes in lean manufacturing implementations (Garcia & Gluesing, 2013).

Literature Search Strategy

I explored leadership strategies and traits used by leaders in overcoming employee resistance to change in lean manufacturing program implementations. The primary focus of a lean manufacturing program implementation is the leadership commitment to the overall vision of process efficiency throughout the organization. The literature review begins with an introduction and then explores the reasons why employees resist change. This exploration includes leadership strategies that may help overcome employees' resistance to change and leadership traits needed to implement and maintain effective change. The literature review included the transformational leadership model. These transformational strategies play a role in successful lean program implementation. The literature review documents relevant research in the areas of resistance to change, leadership and change, leadership strategies, and leadership traits as they relate to organizations undergoing lean program implementations. Peer-reviewed articles, books, and journals were searched from the different databases of the Walden University Library website. The databases that were consulted to identify literature appropriate for this study include Business Source Complete, ProQuest, Emerald Management, SAGE Premier, and Academic Search Complete. I used psychology and human services databases to find related articles from the different viewpoints of theorists in leadership and resistance to change.

In the Walden University Library databases, a literature search was conducted based on the following primary keywords: *leadership, leadership and change, resistance, employee resistance, organizational change, organizational change, transformational leadership, lean manufacturing, lean manufacturing implementation,* and *lean program implementation/change.* Additional keyword searches included *lean, employee, resistance, the theory of constraints,* and *overcoming resistance to change,* to examine literature related topics impacting employee resistance to change while implementing lean programs. Past dissertation and thesis databases were used to retrieve dissertations and about this topic or closely related research topics that had used a similar research methodology to this study for informational purposes. Additional websites outside the Walden University Library were also used, such as Google Scholar, to find appropriate literature. The literature on leadership's ability to overcome resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs within an organization indicated there was an absence of research regarding resistance in lean manufacturing organizations and a need for further study regarding the leadership perceptions of employee resistance. Studies have explored the correlation between program structure and consideration increasing positive performance in organizations that have successfully implemented lean programs (de Vries et al., 2010; Wright, 2012; Zacher et al., 2014). Studies revealed ways that lean programs can affect productivity (Karim & Arif-Uz-Zaman, 2013) and eliminate waste (Piercy & Rich, 2015).

Lean programs implemented successfully within an organization can generate value for the customer, society, and the economy with the objective of reducing costs, improving delivery times, and improving quality through the elimination of waste and wasteful processes (Houborg, 2010). The gaps in past research pertained to strategies that leadership could use to overcome resistance to change within their organizations during lean manufacturing program implementations. In this study, I have described how leadership strategies and traits may add to the body of knowledge to assist leaders in overcoming resistance to change in lean manufacturing program implementations in an organization.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was Kotter's (1996, 2012) eight steps for process change. Kotter's eight-step process is one of the most recognized approaches to organizational transformation (Kotter, 1996; Mento et al., 2002). Kotter's (1996, 2012)

eights steps for change model is a process of creating significant change; it includes (a) establishing a sense of urgency, (b) creating a guided team, (c) developing a vision or an action plan, and (d) communication of the vision throughout the organization. Kotter also includes (a) empowering employees, (b) generating short term goals and wins, (c) sustaining the action plan for long term wins, and (d) approaching the new culture and processes with open minds.

By using this framework for lean program implementations, leaders can develop and implement change promptly to reach organizational goals. Leaders can use Kotter's (1996, 2012) eight-step model for leading change to explore successful leadership strategies for overcoming employee resistance. The use of this framework may help leaders identify how to design, deploy, initiate, and integrate leadership strategies and change processes to institutionalize change, including lean manufacturing program implementation.

Literature Review

The literature review process allows for insight into the factors affecting leadership strategies and traits that have contributed to overcoming employee resistance to organizational change and how leadership behaviors affected the change process. Review of the literature allowed me to identify how other researchers viewed the leadership strategies and trait contributions of leaders regarding change management within organizations. The literature review included research examining lean program implementation in numerous manufacturing organizations, with research regarding

31

leadership strategies and traits in respect to these lean program applications and several studies exploring employee resistance to change.

Researchers reported lean manufacturing implementations failed the majority of the time, and the rate of failure was documented to be at 70%, even as high as 98% in many cases (Bateh et al., 2013; Coltea & Leonard, 2013). Even with a well-organized change strategy, organizational leadership can experience unintended consequences of change. Numerous researchers have agreed employee resistance to change is one of the most significant consequences of any change management program (Garcia-Cabera & Garcia-Barba Hernandez, 2014; Kathuria et al., 2010; D. Smith, 2015). Resistance to change develops from a multitude of broken agreements, poorly written processes, and trust violations with leadership, and these destructive actions can develop negative employee attitudes, resulting in significant resistance (D. Smith, 2015).

Leadership strategies and successful lean program implementation are interconnected. Successful lean program implementations are related to leaderships' ability to communicate change within an organization (Karim & Arif-Uz-Zaman, 2013; Modgil & Sharma, 2016; Pakdil & Leonard, 2015; Pujol, 2012). The absence of an effective leadership strategy and communication are the main reason that lean program efforts fail or cannot be sustained (Eken et al., 2014).

Organizational changes affect everyone involved and can be positive, negative, or mixed depending on how the change is approached and how employees' feelings are taken into account (Kotter & Cohen, 2002). The leadership strategies, styles, and traits are inputs for lean program implementation. Employees' resistance can be active,

passive, or both, depending on the change or how leadership approaches the change (Hultman, 2003). Lean program methodologies require changes, not only in organizational practices but also in the philosophy of the leadership that guides those practices (Becker, 2001). The output of the lean program is the results, and its overall results, improvement, and cost savings measure the success or failure of the organization's lean program implementation.

Many organizational members, even those at the leadership level, may have limited experience, knowledge, or enthusiasm to recognize change the urgency of implementation (Castro, Putnik, & Shah, 2012). Communication is the number one reason for resistance to occur within an organization (Coltea & Leonard, 2013). Resistance as a form of conflict is the greatest obstacle to management for change, on which 79% of leaders agreed, while 60% of leaders also believed that the effects of resistance are negative (Muo, 2014).

There can be some advantageous elements to resistance. Not all employee resistance is negative, and it can produce a better understanding of processes and offer opinions and solutions in areas the leaders were not aware of (Muo, 2014). Employee resistance may force leaders to reexamine or adjust the proposed change. There are several influences as possible contributors to failures in lean manufacturing programs. Contributing factors of lean manufacturing program failures include resistance to change and the ability of leaders to deal with lean program changes, leadership strategies, and the effects of leadership traits on lean manufacturing program change (Muo, 2014).

Leadership's strategies and styles could directly affect the success of needed changes in the lean manufacturing program implementations (Casey & Wuestman, 2015).

Resistance to Change

Resistance to change is a natural and normal reaction that can be perceived as the opposite of acceptance to change, or a way of showing disapproval (Johannsdottir, Olafsson, & Davidsdottir, 2015). Implementations fail when employees and leaders are not working in the same direction when implementing strategic change (Johannsdottir et al., 2015; Lozano, 2012). Employees resist changing their behaviors when they see leadership as dishonest, unpleasant, or different from their traits. Resistance amongst employees, even if it is only one person, can damage or halt organizations' change progress.

There are several dimensions to resistance, two of those being behavior and attitude in response to lean program changes. Bovey and Hede (2001) defined two aspects that influence resistance to change by employees: openly expressive and actively resist. First, when employees' resistance to change is open and freely spoken, leaders can react, make changes to the current process, and overcome the resistance (Bovey & Hede, 2001). Second, if the resistance is concealed from leadership, it can stall, halt, or undermine the change according to Bovey and Hede. The halt in lean program implementation will not just set one system behind; it can set the entire organization behind regarding the implementation schedule and cause additional costs when not handled properly.

Lewin (1947), who is referred to as the grandfather of change management, believed change meets strong resistance because there is no overall agreement on the end goal. The ultimate aim is for employees and leadership to overcome employee resistance to change due to human nature, behavior, habits, norms, and organizational culture (Lewin 1947; Muo, 2014; Spangenberg & Theron, 2013). Lean change is a process in which, once employees have made up their minds to make a change, they are empowered to improve leaderships guided processes.

The review of the past literature on resistance to change in program implementation applies to the foundations of the change. A different picture appears to challenge these views of resistance in Coch and French's (1948) article "Overcoming Resistance to Change." The authors showed a side of resistance that is entirely different and can even impact positive change outcomes. They have a shared view that change is a holistic venture. Coch and French's views, when combined with Lewin's (1947) threestage theory of unfreezing, change, and freeze, can assist leaders in the change process. These two perspectives, when combined, provide a well-rounded and robust view to overcoming employee resistance to change in a manner that is beneficial for both the organization and its employees.

Researchers such as Pryor et al. (2008) and Kohles, Baker, and Donaho (1995) insisted that conflict and resistance are typical reactions to change. Leadership should expect and plan for these responses from employees in the planning strategies, and processes should be put in place to allow employees to work through the resistances (Kohles et al., 1995; Pryor et al., 2008). Many people enjoy change while others suffer due to it, and 55% of organizational employees are against a change of any kind, whether within a program or otherwise (Muo, 2014). With these statistics, programs are a failure from the beginning. The focus should be on each individual as a single source of resistance, by reviewing each employee's interests as part of the whole so leaders can spot resistance, often before it starts. Once the source(s) of resistance are, identified actions can be taken to overcome the behaviors.

The most powerful resistance for leaders to overcome is that of employees who feel their values are deeply rooted in the culture of the organization as it is in its current state. Employee skepticism, frustration, and criticism are likely to develop if employees think that change management activities are directed by the leadership to the employees without an allowance for input (Johannsdottir et al., 2015). Employee resistance is a learned behavior and overcoming these behaviors is a leadership responsibility.

Suggested methods by Agboola and Salawu (2011) for leaders to use in overcome resistance to change, are education, effective communication, facilitation, motivation, negotiation, manipulation, cooperation, and coercion. These methods can help to overcome established beliefs and methods, allowing employees to embrace the new lean manufacturing philosophy. By enabling leaders and employees to take charge of organizational processes in lean program implementation, changes can move forward in the organization with ease. Without proper attention to resistance activities, they will further impede the process implementation and affect the overall outcome of the lean program initiative. Leaders without adequate strategies in place that involve and include employees in the change process, often fail to gain the benefits they hoped for through their change initiatives. Most employees do not initially embrace change. Employees see change as something new, and the emphasis is usually on what will be lost. Lean manufacturing implementation is no different. The leadership strategies needed for lean program implementation focus on resistance to change, leadership strategies for change, leadership views on toward change, leadership traits for effective change, and collaboration strategies with an emphasis on strong leadership during times of change (Marynell, 2013; Pujol, 2012; Spangenberg & Theron, 2013).

Transformational Leadership Strategies

Burns (1978) first presented the concept of transforming leadership in his descriptive research on political leaders and this is now used in organizational change management and organizational psychology. According to the definition of transformational leadership, a transformation takes place when leaders and followers participate in the process of encouraging one another to achieve higher levels of ethics and motivation to reach goals (Nussbaumer & Merkley, 2010). Leaders should be active participants in transformational leadership, by providing resources in exchange for motivation, productivity, and reaching goals.

Organizational leadership transformation can be combined with other change methods to create a more efficient process for carrying out change. Each organization is different and has different goals to reach. While an organizational plan may be developed at the beginning of a project, it can go through many repetitions before the final product is completed. All leaders' self-interests need to be removed for the greater good of the organizational change process.

Bass Transformational Leadership Theory

The original Bass transformational leadership theory was developed by Bass (1985) to describe how leaders can motivate employees to make change by, removing self-interest, striving for higher standards, and performing beyond expectations. Bass defined transformational leadership as the relationship that a leader and follower establish built on trust, admiration, and respect. These relationships then allow for increased task awareness, focus on the team and organizational goals, and encourage employees to help the organization meet the project needs (Bass, 1985). By creating a charismatic bond with followers, leaders can guide change through their commitment and beliefs in the change process.

Transformational leadership is composed of four main traits that successful leaders possess (Bass, 1985). Transformational leaders cultivate and articulate the organizational vision, setting high prospects that challenge, incentivize, and test employees. By using psychological mechanisms, the Bass transformational leadership theory allows the leader to alter follower perceptions, aspirations, expectations, and values to reach organizational goals.

Kotter's Eight Steps of Change

Kotter's (1996) eight-step process for creating change is recognized as one of the most well-known approaches to organizational transformation. Kotter's change management process appears to derive its popularity from a direct and usable format for process change. Kotter observed well over 100 companies during a 10 year period and reported that when organizations try to make a major change, the employees are not willing to make the needed changes. Employee reluctance to make necessary changes was found to be due to lack of understanding of obstacles that prevent execution (Kotter & Cohen, 2002).

The barriers to change can be individual. Though individual instances of resistance are rare, the main reason for resistance seen in organizational leadership and the structure or performance of the appraisal systems causing employees to choose their, own well-being over that of the organization (Kotter, 1996). Change can be difficult, and it can take a long time for changes to become effective. Kotter's change process hoped to eliminate some of the obstacles through eight steps to change. Change can be established through the leadership change processes and Kotter's eight steps of change, shown in Figure 1 displays how this method has been used for many years effectively to implement organizational change (Kotter & Schlesinger, 2008).



Figure 1. Kotter's eight steps of change.

Moving from a homogenous culture to a culture that has cross training and encourages organizational flexibility and accountability into the mix can be an adjustment for employees (Nussbaumer & Merkley, 2010). These changes can be difficult, and the transformational processes like those offered by Kotter (1996) can create a vision for the organization to move to the next level. Kotter's eight steps for leading change provide a framework for the change processes carried out by leaders within an organization.

Transactional Leadership

Multiple empirical studies have revealed that transactional leadership style and competencies of leaders could assist organizations at reaching their lean manufacturing goals (Aba, 2013; Aborne, 2012; Modgil & Sharma, 2016; Prince, 2013). Leadership styles have not been previously explored in overcoming resistance to change in lean manufacturing implementations. Conditional reward and management characterize transactional leadership style by exception, and these two factors play a significant role in the application of this model (Bass, 1985). Organizational goals in transactional leadership focus on the individual as opposed to the team or the overall group, offering rewards for the achievement of organizational goals. Transactional leadership styles can have a significant impact on change's overall performance within organizations.

Transactional leadership shows changes to an organization through marginal or structured alterations and which degrees of improvement employees who are then rewarded by leaders for reaching goals (Dartey-Baah, 2015). This type of leadership is between leaders and their followers where each one has a role in fulfilling an obligation to meet the changes required by the organization (Penn, 2015). Within lean program implementations, both leaders and followers have expectations to conduct, to reach the overall goal. This method works well with lean implementations and is used to attain performance goals through established perimeters, guidelines, rules and regulations, such as those associated with lean manufacturing (Dartey-Baah, 2015). Transactional leadership needs a foundation in a management model, with a focus on general objectives, but one that will also settle on bottom-line upgrades.

The reward for work takes place in each organization and today when employees do a job; they are rewarded with pay. For transactional leadership to maintain success, the reward process needs to go beyond the corrective action and adapt reward into programs of change (Tetteh-Opai & Omoregie, 2015). The object of discussion comes up in the area of management by exception meaning that leaders only take part in offering employee rewards when change is needed.

Transactional leadership behaviors are necessary to perform effectively as a leader (Hargis, 2014). The main elements of transactional leadership models are the part of conditional reward leadership, management by exception active, and management by exception passive and each item are used to focus on achieving the end goal with minimal or no resistance (Meyer & Botha, 2000; Spangenberg & Theron, 2013). Conflict within an organization is functional and even helpful to the organization. Conflict may even be beneficial to the degree that it leads to improvement and change. Therefore the emphasis on leaders or management should not be on the removal of conflict, but on the management and usefulness to the organization. When implementing lean processes, a clear line of leadership is needed for employees, but communication between the two, even when tense, is essential for project success.

Transformational/Transactional Leadership Theories

The theories both of transformational and transactional leadership were initially developed by Burns in 1978 to help leaders understand and interact with employees and to help leaders motivate followers to make change possible within an organization (Burns, 1978). Vision is the ablity for leadership to translate abilities into reality (Bennis, 1985). Transactional leadership styles have a significant impact on overall change performance within organizations (Ejere & Ugochukwu, 2012; Hamstra, Van Yperen, Wisse, & Sassenberg, 2014). Transactional leadership is a technical form of leadership focused mainly on the core management processes of controlling, organizing, and shortterm planning to solve a problem or completing a task. Transformational leadership enables a leader to motivate employees to do more than expected and to increase the significance and value of the tasks.

Leadership responsibility then inspires employees to move outside of their comfort zone to accomplish more to earn a reward. Transformational leadership is seen as an intellectual stimulation for employees through individualized consideration and individualized influenced, attributed, and adapted influence to behavior (Ismail, Mohamed, Sulaiman, Mohamad, & Yusuf, 2011). Transformational leadership style can have a positive effect on the organizational commitment using employee empowerment.

There are two views of leadership by the employee. The first, transactional leadership focuses on supervision, the organization, and performance as a process with a clear leader and follower roles. The second being transformational leadership where the leader works with employees to identify the need for change and guides the team through the change by creating a vision (Meyer & Botha, 2000). Many organizations implement change programs, such as lean using, transactional or transformational leadership or a combination of the two. Transactional leaders can motivate employees by offering something of value in return for their dedication to change or assistance in reaching a

goal. This theory of transactional leadership has employees following direction or working through the term known as management by exception.

Burke and Litwin Model

The Burke and Litwin model (1992) of leadership, change, and performance explores how these processes, when combined with a plan of action and clear, well thought out vision, can overcome even the strongest employee resistance. These practices motivate employees to take an interest in the tasks they are performing to be rewarded. In the case of significant changes within an organization, such as lean program implementation, regular paychecks are not enough motivation needed for change.

Burke and Litwin (1992) used the cause-effect model to predict behavior and organizational performance, with the cause being organizational conditions and effect being less than desirable results. The Burke and Litwin change model consists of both external and internal factors within an organization. Leaders can gain and share knowledge by using the Burke-Litwin model to influence an organization's team and individual performance to reach lean program goals. Through the utilization of the process aspect of the model, leaders can ensure that their leadership model consists of solid leadership strategy, organizational culture, and human capital goals. At the leadership level, goals, and milestones established that are consistent for managing structures, organizational processes, organizational climate, and human talent (Spangenberg & Theron, 2013).

Leaders play a critical role in change and strategy to make change through creating a vision. Much of what an organization needs to use overcome negativity is done through effective communication and a clear, well-planned vision, which is appropriate for the organization. True change agents have a vision and see what is beyond normal business practices to act on change and what could be and how to get there (Millett, 2011). This change agent mentality, when combined with lean program processes, can create success for the organization.

Bass and Avolio's Full Range Leadership Model

Bass and Avolio (1994) established the a complete leadership model consisting of: transformational, transactional, management by exception active, management by exception, passive, and laissez-faire leadership that have led studies of the follower views of leadership, leadership values, and the spirituality of the leader and leadership style. Bass and Avolio's transformational leadership had four dimensions of leadership model behaviors which are: inspirational motivation, idealized influence, individualized consideration, and intellectual stimulation. Leadership behaviors are supportive characteristics to overcome and even possibly prevent resistance in employees.

The Bass and Avolio's (1994) leadership model consists of both transformational and transactional leadership as well as management by exception, and laissez-faire leadership. Bass and Avolio's leadership paradigm created a healthy relationship between leaders and employees in an organization. The leadership model works within process change to help employees gain perspective of change and is a way for leaders to be able to influence the employees and achieve maximum performance levels.

The main elements of the transactional leadership model are the contingent reward leadership, management by exception active, and management by exception passive; each item is used to focus on achieving the end goal with minimal or no resistance. When implementing lean processes, a clear line between leadership and employees is needed, but the interaction between the two is essential for project success. Combining the three step strategy from the Burke and Litwin emodel along with the view of Bass and Avolio's (1994) transformational leadership behaviors demonstrates that leadership is an exchange of processes in which the leaders reward employees' efforts to fulfill obligations and their performance to achieve goals.

Leadership Styles

Leadership style is the way that a leader develops relationships with others both inside and outside the organization. A leader's style reflects how the leader views themselves, their position, and to a degree whether or not they are successful as leaders (Garner, 1996). If a leader is suspicious and untrusting of employees, those actions will be reflected in the organizational community and organizational practices. If a leader is cooperative and open, those behaviors will be reflected in their encounters with employees and customers and allow for effective change. Leaders build relationships, and those relationships need to perform tasks in the best interest of the organization and its employees.

Leaders play an important role in the understanding of human values and the importance of those values in providing direction for employees, implementation of plans of action, and motivating team members to complete tasks for an organization. A leader's style is reflected in everyday tasks such as providing direction, implementing plans, motivating employees, and meeting obligations to employees and the organization. A leader's leadership style defines an organization and must reflect the philosophy and mission of the organization (Goleman, 2000).

Visionary Leadership Style

Leaders associated with successful planning of a change implementation and who have created a vision are normally referred to in terms transformational, charismatic, and visionary (Bourne, 2015). Visionary leadership is the spiritual, mental, emotional, and physical aspects, of leadership founded in core values, clear vision, empowering relationships, intellectual stimulation, personal recognition, and innovative actions (Millett, 2011). Vision in many cases is a leader's intuition or unconscious pattern recognition of details. Patterns are formed when organization leaders accept the mission to accomplish organizational change and recognize where the most change will be needed. Once the employee needs are discovered an organizational plan is established by leaders involving as many people as possible early in the planning stages. Planning includes setting realistic and achievable goals that are within the authority and scope of what is achievable, ensuring adequate resources (money and personnel) to execute the change, and a phased implementation of significant changes with an impact on organizations (Nussbaumer & Merkley, 2010).

Visionaries as leaders apply their original ideas for what the organization should or could be according to their experiences or the work that needs to be done within the organization. Visionary leadership skills defined as the ability to create purpose for the work of an organization through leaders articulating a clear vision providing meaning (Taylor, Cornelius, & Colvin, 2014). Visionary leaders develop the organizational plans and actions along with their leadership traits into a shared vision with employees (Chen & Chen, 2013). The leadership's communication of their vision and that of the organization is what empowers employees to act. When employees do not act, it can be because the vision is not clear or communicated effectively. When employees must figure out a change, they are less likely to be accepting and become tired and unresponsive to the needed modifications. Tired, unmotivated, and unresponsive employees, at the beginning of the change process, can create a culture of resistance.

Effective leadership practices need planning, delegating, motivating, along with measurements and metrics such as quality, timeliness, efficiency, which are directly determined by leadership to create a changing environment and establish goals (Kathuria et al., 2010). Vision and purpose for change are necessary and should be included in the process of developing the change strategy, as training and education for leaders and employees. The change vision needs to show employees what the organization will look like after changes take place and show the opportunities and advantages of the change before any work begins.

The need for interaction and innovation from senior leadership is essential for maintaining a long-term, dynamic operation using the employee's vital resources to make constructive improvements in lean operations (Chen & Chen, 2013). However, not all employees will be comfortable with change. Employees that are uncomfortable with the changes may require simplification of the processes to gain support. Leadership may need to approach the situation from a psychological perspective without confronting cognitive conflict. Retreating employees may perceive positive, innovative interactions with leaders and may, therefore benefit by continuing to pursue personal and organizational goals with the use of visionary leadership (Chen & Chen, 2013). It needs to be mentioned that many times, it is not possible to get all employees on board with change, leaders need to understand when leadership strategies have reached their capacity, and the employee is reluctant or unable to meet the obligations required for lean program success.

Coaching Leadership Style

Past studies show that developing employee oriented interactions in the workplace is advantageous for leadership coaching. Coaching is set apart from mentoring or supervision in an organizational context because it occurs in a temporary setting while mentoring is a long-term goal (Kim, Egan, Kim, & Kim, 2013; Gilley et al., 2010). Coaching by leadership is an organized method that generates a space for employees to reflect on their thought processes and offers clarity when actions may not be apparent (Casey & Wuestman, 2015).

Coaching as a leadership style has become more popular, and organizations that use these strategies show results with programs that operate at higher levels offering employees role clarity, satisfaction with work, organizational commitment, job performance, and organization commitment from leadership (Kim et al., 2013). Coaching is an approach to assist in the development of employees. Leadership coaching in organizations that are implementing lean programs is an effective management and leadership tool that may facilitate organizations in improving employee performance and inhibit employee resistance (Kim et al., 2013). Leaders in today's workplace need to look at the whole picture of an organization. Today's workplace is a dynamic setting, and managerial behaviors and attitudes help to shape employees' actions and reactions. Coaching one of the earliest terms used to define leadership behaviors that effectively help employees learn and apply skills in a manner to achieve goals (Kim et al., 2013). Coaching takes place when leaders intently listen to employees and question while giving effective feedback to them on how to improve work and organizational issues about the lean process implementations (Kim et al., 2013).

Affiliative Leadership Style

Leaders in today's workplaces need to understand the style of affiliative leadership. This style uses the process of acceptance and harmony for managing behavior related to human emotions, therefore making employees feel connected in an organizational environment. The affiliative style is effective during a change effort to address the concerns of individual well-being, morale, and productivity so that the information and plans of action are in place to change the behaviors (Kibben, 2012). Resistant behavior in employees generate the negative emotions associated with reduced levels of morale in individual employees who are not part of the affiliated leadership process (Kibben, 2012). The affiliated leadership process according to Piderit (2000) is, resistance is multidimensional linking how employees response to change (behavioral dimension), how they interpret the change (cognitive dimension), and how they feel about the change (affective dimension).

The affiliate leadership style is one of six leadership styles necessary for effective change management in an organization (Anderson, 2015). This leadership style provides

the ability for leaders to persuade employees to contribute to the project's objective in a willing manner, for this study that of lean manufacturing change processes. The role of leadership in the affiliated style is to get the plan of action rolling as a team. This method requires the leader to use cognitive, social, and open intelligence, to evaluate the situational and organizational needs and regulate the speed of the project to meet the employees' needs accordingly and within reason (Preston, Moon, Simon, Allen, & Kossi, 2015). The affiliated method is used by creating a bond between employees and the activities they are completing to assist in creating a sense of belonging to the team and is a style that requires all members to take part, at all levels.

Affiliative leaders within lean project implementation drive employees to deliver results by using employees' emotions through praise for a job well done (Preston et al., 2015). The lean program crosses all areas of the organization, so keeping smaller projects within the program progressing means setting and reaching deadlines that allow employees to reach goals more quickly. Leaders can gain performance and apply pressure to employees when needed. Pressure is an emotional driver that works with the hard deadlines within lean programs when other possible scenarios will not work.

Democratic Leadership Style

The democratic leadership style is one that is part of the participative system. This system is a method of leading, where decision making duties are shared, and the views of a team or group are encouraged to contribute to the vision, goals, and decisions that are made by the organization (Defining Leadership, n.d.). The democratic method allows the leader to use leadership knowledge to make decisions and this style works best with

smaller implementations and allows employees to make suggestions. This style, when used correctly, can make employees feel valued and encourage them to give opinions and offer suggestions. When employees make suggestions, and give opinions, the leader who is overcoming resistance to change as this can affect morale and deter motivation should not overlook them.

A people first mentality offered by the democratic style allows leadership and implementation activities to be successful. The democratic leader prefers to carry out the work in groups along with the leader. The motivation and work progress within the group allows the leader to be part of the team, which avoids any hierarchal thinking (Eken et al., 2014). The benefits of this structure outweigh by far any of the negative aspects of the style. The democratic leader used inclusion to make group members feel content and exhilarated and allowed them to share their thoughts and ideas with the group (Eken et al., 2014). When employees are more involved and dedicated to projects, they are more likely to care about the results they are producing. A negative aspect of this style is that it can take longer to achieve results.

Pacesetting Leadership Style

The pacesetting leadership style used in lean manufacturing program implementations allows the leader to determine what takes place and how quickly items are completed. The pacesetter style sets high-performance goals for the team in the case of lean manufacturing projects. Lean manufacturing projects will be implemented on time and allow leaders to lead by example and focus on achieving results (Chapman, Johnson, & Kilner, 2014). Organizational leadership uses the pace-setting style for leaders with a particular skill set applicable to a specific to the change area. This method then allows the leader to demonstrate his or her expertise in the tasks supporting the team, the leader completing the tasks will gain cooperation through osmosis with employees (Chapman et al., 2014). When using the pace-setting style, leaders can present a variety of positive and negative feelings from employees about the changes being made.

Leaders who use this method set high standards for themselves and the team to achieve lean program success. One of the key fundamentals of this style is the leading by example methodology (Money-zine.com, 2016). Leaders are given tasks based on their skill set just like employees, and deadlines to complete specific goals, and if they are met the team can celebrate and if the deadline is missed then the leader needs to determine why. The one element lacking in this leadership style is the permitting of ideas to flow among team members (Preston et al., 2015). This happens when employees are not asked for their thoughts and input, just told to implement using organizational methods. Pacesetting leaders can quickly identify members that are not staying on track with organizational expectations. These members are coached, and if the situation does not improve, they are replaced.

Commanding Leadership Style

Commanding leadership style is one of the less desirable methods to provide clear direction for the expectation others will follow. The leaders using this approach have a clear idea of how lean program implementation should take place, can make quick decisions to complete tasks, and can prioritize those tasks (Chapman et al., 2014). Commanding leadership style is applicable with an advanced workforce where an understanding of skills and employees are relatively self-reliant. The commanding leader can help the organization through tasks that require precision and direct orders, and with a workforce, that does not need a lot of attention or direction. Employees working under this strategy have a mindset for the project, and they should already be on board to complete tasks.

The commanding leader uses a style similar to that of a military operation where tasks are given and expected to be completed (Murray, 2010). This method does not give praise to the team, and a leader rarely has a respected team supporting them. This type of strategy is used when a quick turnaround is needed and for short-term projects. The inability to gain followers in this kind of style will not work for long-term programs and leadership should only use it with lean applications when deemed necessary.

Leadership Traits

Trust. Leaders need to have multidimensional abilities to trust and take risks for lean program implementations. There are several actions that leaders can take to win the confidence of their team while implementing lean programs to overcome any resistance due to lack of trust. The five step approach to trust building is made up of the following behavior traits consisting of engaging, listening, envisioning, framing, and committing to the organizational change (Martin, Naylor, Jefferson, David, & Cavazos, 2015). Without a trusting relationship, leaders and followers are not able to communicate effectively, and meaningful relationships for progress are challenging.

Communication. Communication is second only to trust in the success of organizational change processes. Participants in three organized studies, covering three

generations agree that communication is the key to effective change implementation (Birasnav, 2014; Bourne, 2015; Dunicn & Keaster, 2015). Leaders need to communicate changes effectively; what changes will take place, why the changes need to be made, and what the gain will be for the employees (Bourne, 2015). Ineffective handling of the reasons why changes are taking place is often the reason for lean initiative failures (Battilana & Casciaro, 2012). Effective communication skills in leaders can help them to overcome their opinions of the change and see employees' perceptions.

Communication methods need to be flexible and accommodate all employees and designed in such a way that employees receive the information in terms that are understandable (Bourne, 2015). The level and type of communication needed can vary in degree by the nature of the information within the change being communicated. Leaders can help employees through the changes by increased communication, decreasing their feelings of uncertainty, and increasing positive feelings about the change to help employees understand the changes in lean manufacturing processes.

Without proper communication, employees of organizations may pull away from leaders out of fear. The fear of ideas they do not completely understand or resistance towards leadership when they are unclear about decisions or actions. Change within an organization should be straightforward, clear, and communicated before implementation begins (Dunicn & Keaster, 2015). Kotter's eight steps for leading change when combined with strategic planning helps to overcome change resistance and helps employees to comprehend the change in a meaningful way (Kotter & Schlesinger, 2008). In most cases, a change begins without employees even knowing a change is taking place this action causes employees to resist as a response.

Employee involvement. The level of participation that leaders need to gain from their employees can depend on the change that is taking place. Employees that are involved or at the very least informed of change efforts are more likely to support leadership's change processes (Bourne, 2015). Employees need commitment from leaders and reassurance that their need for resources, work relationships, incentives, and training will be met to support the initiative entirely (Bourne, 2015). Leaders need to make sure they reach out to employees regularly just to check in and keep employees informed of progress or needs throughout the process.

Employees need to feel a sense of responsibility in the overall lean program process. The involvement can be in the form of human capabilities, ownership, or responsibility and this relationship leads to shared vision, purpose, and values (Amah & Ahiauzu, 2013). The commitment level overseen by the leadership team can depend on the size or effect of the process implementation, determining what employees and for how long they will be part of the project depends on the leaders' perspective.

Employee empowerment. Employee empowerment is defined as a potentially effective work practice to manage organizations more effectively and efficiently (Khan & Rasli, 2015). Empowerment is the transfer of decision making abilities from leadership to employees and employees consequently have the power to manage, assign, and to improve the functions related to a task (Khan & Rasli, 2015). This transfer of power

allows the leadership to share responsibility for organizational tasks and drives the employees to use their full potential, energy, abilities, and competencies in their jobs.

Past studies show that employees are less likely to resist actions or organizational transformations when they feel empowered to take charge of the task or tasks within their assignment. Employee empowerment requires leaders to share information and knowledge, which helps to enhance their job performance and job satisfaction. It is important for organizations to implement employee empowerment programs and measure results to ensure that the factors in employee satisfaction levels as well as those of the customers are met (Ghosh, 2013). Employees' level of commitment and job satisfaction are responsible for successful lean program implementation.

Education and communication. In the past, organizations may have had change efforts taking place one at a time, but today organizations can have 20 or more changes taking place at any given time (Bourne, 2015). Implementation of lean programs for leaders is handled in much the same manner as planning a complex tactical or strategic operation, involving many segments, over great distances for the long-term with the knowledge that the program will never be complete (Bland, 2012). A gap analysis of the organization is a place to start to evaluate current operations. Analysis of data results can give leaders an idea of where they can start planning vision, an important concept for a change using lean implementation strategy (Bourne, 2015). Leaders need to take a good look at the organizational results of current programs before beginning the implementation of any lean program to understand what is necessary.

Change Management

Change management is a system that helps to organize processes for an organization to make changes to the current systems with each portion having a dependency upon the entire system. Change management as a body of knowledge draws on the research of communication, strategy, and organizational development and has been in the past influenced by a variety of works, (Connor, 1993; Kotter, 1996; Phillips, 1983; Pollack & Pollack, 2015). Change within an organization can be managed in a variety of ways, but tends to focus on project or program level issues regarding organizational processes and development, change to organizational cultures, and the impact of leadership on change initiatives (Pollack & Pollack, 2015).

In change management, Kotter's eight steps of change (2012) provided a systematic method to complete and organize the change journey that achieves successful lean manufacturing program change, through sustainable processes. There are many methodologies and approaches to carry out organizational change. The organizations that undergoing transformational change are never quite the same in structure, systems, strategies, and human resources and there is no one method that will work for every organization, which is why there are many different approaches available.

The success rate for organizational change implementations is less than 20% (Al-Haddad & Kotnour, 2015). Organizations need a combined approach to sustaining systematic, constructive change. Leaders should address the barriers or resistances to change, by addressing the consequences of not making the change. The leaders need to
create a vision and understand how employees perceive the change and ensure acceptance.

For successful change management, leadership plays a key role in the effective process application. Change management leadership is defined as principles, methods, or activities useful to the human facets of performing change to effect acceptance while reducing resistance (Hargis, Watt, & Piotrowski, 2011). In complex or vaguely defined organizations, leaders must work with major uncertainties as they arise. Leaders need to gauge the impact of the uncertainty and use their authority with employees to complete the change (Al-Haddad & Kotnour, 2015). Those employees that can successfully comply with this uncertainty differentiate themselves and may become future leaders in the organization.

Culture change. Leaders and employees are moving from a culture where everyone is the same and does the same thing to a culture that has cross training and encourages organizational flexibility and accountability into their normal job expectations (Nussbaumer & Merkley, 2010). The leadership vision can be difficult for employees and the need for transparent processes will allow for culture changes within each process to move the organization to the next level. Lean culture change is done through the leadership's desire to implement strategic and operational practices that are strongly supported by a vision. The framework of culture change that needs to be employed within the lean organization includes employee involvement, creativity, problem solving processes, decentralization, control and standardization, efficiency, productivity, and continuous improvement (Pakdil & Leonard, 2015). The framework for cultural change affects the success of implementing and sustaining processes for lean programs.

The thought processes for lean program implementations have changed over the years as lean programs have gone from waste reduction only programs to complete system restructuring and continuous improvement. Resistance comes when employees, shareholders, and all other stakeholders, are unable to understand the top to bottom processes, and the developing of the organizational processes to make the most of the organizational capabilities that result in a competitive advantage (Pakdil & Leonard, 2015). Organizational culture and human resources management play a role in an organization's ability to manage the change. The implementation of lean manufacturing program processes is not straightforward. Human resources can be a great asset for leaders to assist in gaining employee acceptance of change.

Understanding How Change Impacts Employees

Understanding the strategic intent of the company will allow employees to understand what goals the company is trying to achieve and what their role will be in helping the organization to reach the overall goal. Organizations that clearly communicate their goals when implementing lean manufacturing programs have a higher ratio of improvement value on average 4.8% higher than those who do not effectively communicate the goals ahead of time (Copeland, 2013). This communication needs to include objectives, metrics, intent, business plans, goals, and financial information. Leaders need to communicate openly about matters that affect employees such as job changes, layoffs and hiring, and company strategies related to individual roles and responsibilities (Copeland, 2013). When employees feel needed and appreciated they are more eager to use their efforts in the best interests of the organization to complete the tasks leaders are asking for.

Leaders need to know that changes affect everyone in the organization not just them, and change does not affect all employees in the same manner. Many employees invest heavily in their careers, the more that an employee invests and identifies with their work role, the greater their effort towards achieving the goals that are set out for them (Venn, 2012). Employees who do not identify with their work roles and are not engaged in work tasks will have leaders looking for ways to achieve commitment levels.

Employees suffer from a variety of psychological feelings when forced to make a change they feel uneasy about, and these feelings can include depression, isolation or even feelings of doubt related to their worth (Copeland, 2013). Organizational leaders need to be on the lookout for psychological feelings, or changes in feelings within their team, because the quicker these are handled, the better chance the change has of being effective. Leaders need to take charge and explain the vision for the lean manufacturing processes as this helps to alleviate the mystery surrounding the change and gives employees time to process their feelings.

Employees under normal circumstances are not naturally programed to resist change. Employees resist changes due to fear, of the loss of status, loss of income, loss of control, or loss of comfort (Anderson, 2015). Leaders need to be aware of resistance actions and a lack of understanding of why employees resist change causes a variety of unproductive actions within organizations. By using resistance as a rationalization for unmet goals by leaders is not useful and creates a block in progress within the organization. Employees may resist the unknown, and be directed by superiors or leadership concepts that do not seem possible from the employees' viewpoint. Therefore, by making employees see the need for the change creates a leader-follower relationship (Anderson, 2015). This relationship and buy-in from employees create a bond within the team as Lewin (1947) introduced a systems concept, of forceing managers to treat employees as equals. Power relationships are changed not by what leaders say, but what leaders do and how they do it.

Acceptance of change. The results of lean program implementation and overcoming employee resistance to change greatly depend upon awareness, attitude, teamwork, and the support of employees when an organization decides to change strategies, or to implement new practices (Johannsdottir et al., 2015). Leadership needs to create the foundation of support for employees during the initial planning of the change. This plan needs to include ways to create safety, job security, communication, and trust. In securing cooperation and trust, leaders can conduct training and educational programs to help raise awareness of how the lean programs take place, what to expect, and how they will affect the workplace.

Employee acceptance of a program change has four dimensions: openly communicated support, concealed support, active support, and passive support. In the case where employees are openly expressive and active, they initiate and participate in change actions (Johannsdottir et al., 2015). When employees that are able openly to express their concerns to leadership about the change process, they will be more willing to make a change than when processes are dictated to them. Change management encourages leaders to employ efforts with shared goals and a vision of the change management processes. This allows for leadership/employee engagement in the lean program implementation. These processes have a positive outcome using strategic methods and ways to overcome resistance and implement change.

Summary and Conclusions

The current research in lean manufacturing shows a variety of ways to manage process issues as they arise. Many research studies, articles, and books focus on the implementation of lean programs. There are very few studies on leadership overcoming employee resistance and none within the lean manufacturing program implementation process. The materials reviewed in this dissertation recognize the leadership strategies of leaders who successfully implement lean manufacturing programs to overcome resistance to change.

There are many reasons that employees resist change in an organization. Some methods studied by experts such as Bovey and Hede (2015) who have defined four dimensions of resistance and Kohles et al. (1995) insisted that conflict and resistance are typical reactions to change and should be expected. These theories may assist leaders in determining the best methods for why resistance occurs in lean implementations.

Several additional studies have been done on how leadership can overcome resistance within an organization. These studies are highlighted in studies such as Kotter's eight steps of change (1996), can be established through leadership change processes, and have been used for years to implement change effectively. Coch and French (1948) show a side of resistance that is completely different and how negative resistance can impact positive change outcomes. Lewin's (1947) approach to fine-tuned planning and participation leading to a new view of resistance and the ability to incorporate it positively. As a more traditional view of overcoming change resistance Bridge's referenced that organizations have seven phases in the change lifecycle, and Ford and Ford (2009) explain that resistance leads to improved quality processes.

Kotter's eight steps of change (1996) process information was included in this dissertation. These steps help to implement a process change, as change within organizations should be straightforward, clear, and communicated before implementation. Strategic planning helps leaders to define strategy, direction, and make decisions to allocate resources for a change. Planning change helps to overcome change resistance and aids employees to comprehend the change in a meaningful way (Dunicn & Keaster, 2015). These elements of strategic planning and Kotter's eight steps provided a foundation to ensure that a leader's ability to overcome resistance in lean program implementation considers all aspects of change.

The gaps in past research were missing strategies that leadership might have used to overcome resistance to change in lean manufacturing program implementation (Marynell, 2013). This research used peer reviewed articles, studies, and books to explore the leadership strategies of leaders who successfully implement lean manufacturing programs, to overcome resistance to change. This research included the leadership styles and traits needed to overcome resistance to change for successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs, within an organization. This gap in the literature is the primary reason for this research dissertation.

Chapter 3 includes an examination of research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, methodology, and issues that may be encountered throughout the study and data collection processes. Chapter 4 includes a description of the data collection and interpretation of the study. Chapter 5 concludes with study recommendations, implications for positive social change, and recommendations for future study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore leaders' lived experiences of overcoming resistance to change and the leadership strategies they used, specifically in the areas of lean manufacturing implementation. The technique I used for collecting and evaluating the data was interpretive phenomenological analysis (IPA). The semistructured interview process was used to gather data from leaders who have implemented lean manufacturing change. I used open-ended interview questions to record feedback about participants' lived experiences.

Participant interviews were recorded, transcribed, and analyzed using open-ended structured interview questions. I interviewed 20 qualified leaders, at which point saturation occurred, to understand their lived experiences concerning the leadership strategies they had used to overcome resistance from employees while implementing lean manufacturing programs. According to Tesch (1994), the interview is important in a qualitative study because the participants and the researcher will work closely to get to the heart of the issue.

The objective of this study was to gain lived experiences of leaders who have overcome resistance to change during the implementation of lean manufacturing programs. I conducted interviews with qualified leaders using a set of developed interview questions (Appendix C) to gather data from the leaders' lived experiences. Once the interviews were completed, the data analyses of the study covered the output of all interview responses from participants. The data analysis I used was the IPA guidelines and the NVivo 11 software program to identify themes and meanings that emerged from the data (J. A. Smith & Osborn, 2007). The interviews provided data from which the identification and discussion of the themes emerged. I have presented the findings in Chapter 5, connecting the interview answers to the literature review on previous research on leadership strategies used to overcome employee resistance from a leadership perspective and as applied to lean manufacturing program implementations.

Research Design and Rationale

I explored the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change in manufacturing organizations implementing lean manufacturing programs. Before deciding to use the qualitative design for this study, other research methods were considered. The qualitative designs are narrative, case study, phenomenology, ethnography, and grounded theory. The design selection for this study was based on the qualitative method and a phenomenological design to best answer the research questions. "Phenomenology is the study of structures of consciousness as experienced from the firstperson point of view. The central structure of an experience is its intentionality; it is being directed toward something, as it is an experience of " (D. W. Smith, 2009, para. 1).

The rationale for the choice of the qualitative design is that it would allow participants to incorporate individual meaning and understanding of their lived experiences into the research through first-person accounts of how leaders could overcome resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs within their manufacturing organizations. The qualitative phenomenological method allowed for an expansion of knowledge on leadership strategy for overcoming resistance to change (Conklin, 2014; Giorgi, 2012; Wisdom, Cavaleri, Onwuegbuzie, & Green, 2012). Participants were interviewed using open-ended questions and follow-up questions when needed to gain a better understanding of each unique lived experience. The qualitative method was the best method to explore this area of study, as little published information was available (Hoflund, 2013).

A phenomenological design was chosen for this study as it has the precise focus to develop further the body of knowledge for leaders on overcoming resistance to change among employees. The phenomenological design is used to achieve the rigorous quality that is required for scientific research. Phenomenological research processes are methodologically developed in a way that data collection and data analysis are a single, unified process (Giorgi, 2012). The aim of this study was to gain knowledge on the lived experiences of the participants by understanding each experience and incorporating individual meaning in the representation of the collected data.

The qualitative phenomenological approach is a study of a group of peoples' experiences from a subjective standpoint on how they see a experience, in this study, leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change. Participants' lived experiences were differentiated by their answers to each interview question, creating rich, meaningful data with a thorough understanding of the lived experience (Giorgio, 2012). The goal of this qualitative phenomenological research was to show lived experiences and provide narrative data to outline the experiences. To ensure the design method was appropriate and would stand the test of time, I accounted for the trustworthiness, genuineness, consistency, and uniformity within participants using demographic information (Appendix B) in the preliminary questionnaire. Participants could relive their experiences and to give firsthand knowledge of how each of their experiences took place and details surrounding each event, through open-ended questions asked by me.

The traditional aspects of the phenomenological design allowed me in this study to explore, discover, and recognize leadership strategies for overcoming resistance to change in lean manufacturing program implementations in manufacturing organizations. This design allowed the participants to give details of their experiences of overcoming resistance while implementing change within their manufacturing facilities. The phenomenological design was appropriate as it helped to understand leadership's lived experiences of strategies within manufacturing leaders to overcome resistance to change.

I used a phenomenological design in this study to gain a better understanding of the experiences, impediments, and links to organizational outcomes of human behavior overcoming resistance to change (Conklin, 2014). The phenomenological design allowed me to focus on specific leadership strategies, styles, and traits, to explain the behaviors, use of power and influence, transformational leadership, and transactional-based leadership (Giorgio, 2012). This study made the best use of the personal participant perspectives of the phenomenon.

The grounded theory design was another option for this study. The grounded theory is a qualitative analysis based on respondent views of a subject through analysis of categorically represented data variables (Glaser, 2016). The grounded theory uses the theory that emerges from data analysis to create a theoretical model (Glaser, 2016). The grounded theory can use an interview process with open-ended questions to generate a variety of answers, much like that of the phenomenological design. I did not use the theoretical model, as the intent of this study was not to develop a theoretical model.

A case study design was considered, as a case study is the most flexible research design that describes social science research and that allows me to maintain the characteristics of real life events while investigating firsthand events. Yin (1984) defined the case study research method that uses multiple sources of evidence. The empirical inquiry then explores a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context where the boundaries between phenomenon and context are not evident. The case study design is a labor-intensive approach, and the gathering of case study data requires a skilled and qualified researcher to eliminate the risk of bias in the collected research data (Yin, 1984). I decided against the case study method for this reason.

The ethnography and narrative designs were considered for this study. The ethnography design explores people, folk, and nation, to provide a review of how the cultural phenomenon behaves (Agar, 1996). In the ethnographical design, I would record all observed behavior and describe all meaning and interactions or relations of the observed group, using concepts that avoid causal accounts of the group interactions observed (Agar, 1996). The narrative design is a storytelling research method or phenomenon, set through the eyes of the researcher using the participants' stories. Narrative design research is defined by a chain of events with validation of the reader audience, not the experience (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). Therefore, neither the ethnography nor the narrative designs would produce the content needed for the lived

experiences of leaders who have implemented lean manufacturing programs in organizations overcoming employee resistance to change.

I explored the mixed methods approach for this research. According to Teddlie and Tashakkori (2009), mixed methods research is a purposeful sampling technique used for a specific purpose, rather than a random sample involving select units or cases. I intended to explore the lived experience of leaders who have implemented lean manufacturing programs in the past, so this style would not be best suited for this study.

I also explored the quantitative method for this research. The quantitive method is a systematic, firsthand study of observable phenomena using numerical, calculated, or computational techniques (Given, 2008). I did not choose this method because I wanted to transcend the individual experience to understand the commonalities of each participant, to allow them to give their account of events and not limit specific data criteria. I chose the qualitative method for this research because I wanted to ensure that participants would be allowed to project each of thier lived experiences of the lean manufacturing program implimentation in thier organization(s).

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher for this study was as the observer. To eliminate any ethical issues that may have arisen, I would like to point out that I am a Six Sigma Master Black Belt who has worked on and implemented a variety of lean manufacturing program implementations. I could understand the terminology used by leaders in the lean manufacturing industry and understand the requirements and frameworks required by lean manufacturing programs. There were no personal relationships between any of the participants and me other than on a professional level of working in the manufacturing industry and implementing lean manufacturing programs. In this phenomenological study, as the researcher and the interviewer of the participants, I was responsible for the assimilation of and search for new knowledge in strategies to overcome resistance in lean manufacturing practice. The participants' and my experiences of the topic promoted data collection transparency and help to ensure the study's credibility.

As the interviewer, I narrated the participants' answers to the interview questions. My interview work included the use of the five senses to draw a mental picture of the events as the participants described their experiences (Englander, 2012). The observational process enabled me to learn about the participants' activities and their experiences through the events as they unfold.

I recorded each answer to the interview questions using text and audio data. I attempted to recreate the implementation using notes, interview questions, and audio recordings as the events were pieced together. Each question was shown as a column heading with the answer below. I then entered the information into the NVivo 11 software program, which can create formats, trends, and themes from the data entered into the database. As the interviews, progressed, possible trends and themes emerged.

Resistance to change by employees is one of the roadblocks to success in lean manufacturing program-implementation, which is why it must be considered from the beginning of any organization's transformational process (Livesay, Rorke, & Lux, 1989). I have developed an interest in contributing to positive social change by assisting other leaders in the manufacturing field with ways that may help overcome employees' resistances to change. This study allowed me the opportunity to explore lean manufacturing program implementations with other leaders.

I used bracketing to withhold any personal experiences, personality, and emotional conflicts within the manufacturing and lean program implementation areas that could affect the exchange of information. I removed all bias about the ethical areas of gender, ethnicity, and social class by using bracketing (Rubin & Rubin, 2005). Bracketing is an approach that allows the researcher to gain the information necessary to investigate the usual methods of members to comprehend the social world and give it truth (Caelli, 2001).

Methodology

Participant Selection Logic

In this qualitative phenomenological study, I explored the lived experiences of leaders who have implemented lean manufacturing programs and overcoming resistance to change within their organizations. As the focus of inquiry for this study, approximately 20 qualified participants were selected, specifically, those who have led successful lean program implementations in an organization whose employees were resistant to change. A purposeful, nonrandom sampling strategy was used to determine the 20 lean manufacturing leader participants. Interviews continued until 20 qualified participants had been interviewed and data saturation occurred.

The sampling included members from LinkedIn databases of professionals who have implemented lean manufacturing programs in the past. Purposeful, nonrandom sampling adds credibility to the research conducted to gain rich information from participants (Gentles, Charles, Ploeg, & McKibbon, 2015; Suri 2011). Potential participants for the study were recruited through a publicly accessible database; LinkedIn was used to find members whose backgrounds include lean program implementations. Participants were contacted through the purposeful, nonrandom sampling method from the data set of 120,000 plus possible members from LinkedIn databases (LinkedIn, 2017; Meng, 2013).

Professionals who have implemented lean manufacturing programs in the past will determine the qualified participants based on their past experiences. I contacted the selected participants via e-mail (Appendix A). The interested participants contacted me directly. Participants' could ask any questions, to confirm their eligibility to participate based upon the identified screening criteria, reply with consent to the confidentiality form, and set an interview date and time. I selected participants based on their willingness to participate in the semistructured, open-ended interview process. Participants needed to possess lean manufacturing program implementation experience and have overcome employee resistance to change during a lean program implementation (Appendix B).

The participants in this study included manufacturing leaders who have implemented lean manufacturing programs within a variety of industries, in large, medium, and small companies, located within the United States. These leaders gave positive answers to the screening questions indicating their eligibility to participate in this study. The selection criteria confirmed leaders have successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs and achieved successful change. For this study, a successful program included delivery of a lean manufacturing program, with the support of top leadership, allowing adequate time for the change, significant resources, provided training as needed, and added follow-up actions for sustainability (Testani & Ramakrishnan, 2012).

The interview process provided a comprehensive description of experiences based on the objectification of the human experiences as the foundation of analysis (Giorgi, 2012). By using manufacturing leaders' lived experiences, the meanings and the descriptions of the phenomenon required that each experience was considered independently regarding variations in opinions, views, and feelings (Giorgi, 2009; Moustakas, 1994). I explored the meaning of the lived experience in the participant interviews. The participants could share knowledge with me, which may not have bee captured in the same detail through other methods of inquiry.

The sample size for qualitative research related to ideal size is a matter of judgment and researcher experience (Giorgi, 2012). Fischer (2009) and Conklin (2014) determined that an adequate sample size is ultimately the amount that researchers need to assess the quality of the data collected, its purpose, the research method, and the sampling and analytical strategies employed. Patton (2002) added that sample size, while there are no written rules, depends on the information wanted, the purpose of the investigation, impact of the study, and the utility and purpose of the data to be retrieved. In the phenomenology design, according to Husserl, the lived experiences deliver the principles of the discovery of the phenomenon and a small number of participants will allow the essence to shine through (Giorgi, 2012). Due to the amount of detail and the variety of experience, the number of participants interviewed in a phenomenological

study is usually smaller; for this study 20 participants or until data saturation is reached was determined to be an adequate number of participants by Walden University (2014).

Instrumentation

In this study, I was the primary human instrument used to collect all data from participants through the interview process. The instrumentation for this study used semistructured open-ended interview questions to gather data. The interview process was the primary data collection instrument used for obtaining trends, patterns, and themes in the collected data (Rubin & Rubin, 2005). The interview process was used to gather the lived experiences of participants. Participants' who have implemented lean manufacturing programs and overcome resistance to change by employees.

Pilot Study

A panel of three experts provided content credibility by reviewing and approving the interview questions listed in Appendix F and the problem statement, purpose statement, and research questions guiding this study. I contacted the panelists via e-mail to review the appropriateness of the interview questions, purpose, and problem statements on the research question (Appendix E). Once the expert panel members indicated, they were interested, in being part of the review panel, I sent them a copy of the problem and purpose statements as well as the interview and research questions (Appendix F).

At the time, the expert panel reviewed the questions, problem, and purpose statements there was one research question. The second research question in this study is interview question number one listed in Appendix F, as reviewed by the expert panel. The group of experts consisted of industry experts who have published research articles regarding lean manufacturing program implementation and overcoming employee resistance as well as industry leaders and consultants in the field of lean manufacturing.

The expert panel consisted of two men and one woman. Expert Panel Member 1 is a consultant, practitioner, speaker, trainer, and author dedicated to helping organizations achieve and maintain sustainable competitive advantages with structured programs, such as those in lean manufacturing. Expert Panel Member 2 is an author, leadership expert, lean manufacturing consultant, and speaker, who has spent the majority of their career in blue-collar manufacturing. This expert panel member has moved up the ranks to become a leading expert and has published nine books on lean manufacturing programs and implementation of these programs. Expert Panel Member 3 is a Lean Six Sigma Black Belt (LSSBB), Lean Six Sigma Sensei (LSSS), customer satisfaction expert witness, and implementation expert with over 20 years' of experience in continuous improvement. This panel expert has implemented lean programs in numerous industries, including consumer packaged goods, retail, automotive, healthcare, publications/media, government, banking/finance, insurance, nonprofits, real estate, telecommunications, consumer electronics, and airlines. This expert panel member has taught undergraduate and graduate level courses in management, marketing, public relations, and operations and has published several articles and books in operational excellence and lean practices.

I designed the questions for the interview process. The expert panel reviewed the research questions, purpose statement, problem statement, and the alignment to the participant interview questions. The expert panelists did not make any changes to the

research question, problem, or purpose statements, but recommended several revisions to the original interview questions for alignment to the research questions. I incorporated the suggestions from the expert panel into the ten revised interview questions (Appendix C). I removed interview question number one from the original interview question list in Appendix F, and this has become RQ2, as suggested by the University Research Reviewer (URR). A copy of the revised interview questions (Appendix C) was sent to the expert panel members for final review. The expert panel participants did not offer any additional changes to the questions (Appendix C).

Interview Questions

The interview questions establish a framework for the semistructured interview process. The interview questions (Appendix C) allowed me to gather data on the lived experiences of participants in this study with interview questions. I collected data based on participant answers, to develop a better understanding of the lived experiences of the participants during their lean manufacturing program implementations. The data I collected was in the form of handwritten notes and audio recordings from the participant interviews.

Interviews with participants were conducted via Skype. Skype is a computer application that allows face-to-face communication over video access between two parties in two different locations. The use of the semistructured interview process allowed the participants and me to have dialog during the interview process, allowing the lived experiences of the participants' to be revealed through the IPA method (J. A. Smith & Osborn, 2007). The use of open-ended interview questions allowed me to get as close as possible to the participant to gain their lived experiences on lean manufacturing program implementations and overcoming resistance to change.

I recorded each interview with an audio recording device. Recording the interviews allowed me to review any facts that may not be clear during the interview process. The audio recording device I used remained the same for each interview, and Simplified Home developed the device. The audio recording of the interview allowed me to transcribe the interview data. The interviews were not video recorded.

I transcribed the audio recording after each interview to ensure all information was documented. I used Dragon NaturallySpeaking software to transcribe the audio recording to text for uploading to the NVivo 11 program. I used the same transcription process for each interview.

Once all interviews were completed, all transcriptions were filed following Walden University guidelines in compliance with 45 C.F.R. §46 (2016). The 45 C.F.R. §46 wrote in 1979, applies the basic ethical practices of research, and provides protection for human subjects and human subject information involved in research studies. I followed the Walden University Guidelines, for preserving and protecting the data collected to avoid mishandling of participants' data.

The Walden University guidelines follow 45 C.F.R. §46 (2016) for the protection of human subjects. Policy, 45 C.F.R. §46, ensures that educational institutions conduct Internal Review Board (IRB) to approve all research processes for students in their facilities. I followed the processes as described in this policy. The IRB reviewed all research data processes and verified that for this study it satisfied the criteria outlined in 45 C.F.R. §46.

Initial contact documentation between the participant and I was be added to each participant's file. All forms sent and received via e-mail between the participant and I, are protected according to the documentation storage process outlined in this study. Once the final acceptance transcript was received from the participant, the file was closed and filed away for safekeeping, by me.

The trustworthiness of the participants' interviews and documentation was established through credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability to the study (Patton, 2002). The member-checking verification of the transcripts assisted the interview process to maintain quality control. The member-checking process consisted of me e-mailing the participant a copy of the transcribed text for review and consistency (Appendix B) and served as the reliability of the participant.

Procedures for Recruitment

After gaining approval from Walden University's IRB, I solicited participants to interview. I purposefully solicited participants from the approximately 120,000 members of the LinkedIn databases. Qualified lean manufacturing professionals were selected, in groups of 25, until 20 qualified participants were found. An invitation e-mail was sent to the potential interview participants asking for their participation in this study (Appendix A).

Once the participant had, expressed interest in the study via e-mail the Informed Consent Form for was sent to them for completion. Next, the demographic information form was sent for them to complete the Participant Identification Demographics (see Appendix B). Once this form (see Appendix B) was returned and the participant was determined to be qualified, an interview time and date were established between the participant and me. At that time the participant was assigned a number to give them confidentiality for the interview process, and the numbers used were 1 to 20. If a participant was not qualified for the interview process, an e-mail stating this was sent, and contact with that member was concluded.

The use of NVivo 11, Skype, Dragon NaturallySpeaking, and Microsoft Office applications software were ethically sourced and used to enter, manage, analyze, and present the results of this study. Microsoft (MS) Office applications and NVivo 11 software were used for managing and analyzing data collection and once a participant was found an entry was made into the database for tracking the research. The appendices contained the categorization of the data created during the data analysis phase and any other additional information collected during the interview.

Procedures for Participation

This study was conducted in English, to avoid any confusion and reduce any risks or misunderstandings in the interview questions and the answers to the interview questions. All participants replied with their consent to the Informed Consent Form to me by e-mail. Without the signed consent form, participants were not allowed to participate.

I have a background in the field of lean manufacturing program implementation and subordinates, friends, and family were allowed to take part in this study to eliminate potential researcher bias, and I also used the bracketing technique. Bracketing is a methodological practice of phenomenology, used by me to suspending judgment about the natural world and to focus on the analysis of experience (Giorgi, 2012; Leedy & Ormrod, 2010). Bracketing is a means of interval reliability, and for this study, it is used to remove my prior experiences on the topic, so there is no introduction of undue bias. During each interview, I wrote down notes on the key takeaways from that interview, if they occured, and these notes were added to the audio transcription data for review.

Procedures for Data Collection

All participant interviews were scheduled outside of working hours or at an agreed time between the participant and me. All interviews were conducted face-to-face via the Skype application. I ensured that each participant had signed the confidentiality form and understood the interview process. Only the participant and I could attend the actual interview process.

The interview process included questions regarding the extent of involvement, the nature of the position in the lean program implementation and leadership, factors promoting or inhibiting the program. Participants were also be asked about the use of program tools, employee resistance, leadership strategies used to overcome resistance, and individual experiences with the lean program implementation. The interview questions have been designed to explore the participants' lived experience of overcoming resistance to change within an organization while implementing lean manufacturing programs and traits of leaders related to lean program implementation. The interview process considered the quality efforts of the lean manufacturing program as an attribute to within the organization.

I eliminated any conflict of interest and did not interview in any workplace location. I was mindful and sensitive to bias, limiting the judgments, views, opinions, and values of the participants. The participant and I, to accommodate both schedules, conducted the interviews on dates and times that are convenient and agreed upon in advance. All interviews were conducted via Skype from my home, and the participants were located at a location determined by them. A computer was required for the participant to take part in the interview process, as the Skype application allowed face-toface over video interviewing.

Before and after the interview process I debriefed the participant and asked them if they had any questions or needed an explanation of any of the questions or information exchanged. Each participant was reminded that his or her information would be confidential and that all information provided could be used for the study research process as outlined in the Informed Consent Form for Study. The transcribed interview data and any handwritten notes were provided to the participant to ensure accuracy. Once I had verified that all participant information was correct, conducted the interview, and completed the member-checking process to ensure quality control and accuracy, the credibility of the recorded interviews and transcripts was established.

Member-Checking

The transcripts and other forms along, with a thank you note (Appendix D), was e-mailed to the participant. The participant was allowed seven business days to review the information and make any required changes. The thank you note included with the documentation explained this process and was enclosed with the transcript. If a verification e-mail was not sent to me from the participant within seven days, I proceeded with the data and made no modifications or changes. Each participant was thanked in the note for his or her participation in this study and will receive a copy of the executive summary of the study after it is completed. Once the participant accepted the transcribed data, the study interview process was complete. This process was continue until the 20 qualified participants were found, interviews were completed, and data saturation occurred.

Data Analysis Plan

The data analysis plan stated how the research design and research methods were to be carried out. There are general guidelines to follow and components to include in the analysis process. The phenomenological design of data collection allowed me to gain the lived experiences of research participants (Giorgi, 2012). The development of a classification system for data or a coding system is required for data analysis in the research process (Giorgi, 2012).

To gain a better understanding of the participants' answers to the interview experience and to create uniformity in the research process I applied the phenomenological research approach of IPA to the analysis of the collected data. The IPA is not a prescriptive methodology, and the analysis of the text and audio from each interview provided data for translation into emergent themes and a connection between themes across the interviews (J. A. Smith, Flowers, & Larkin, 2009). Data was entered into the NVivo database under different headings, using the research questions as headings to compare and identify relationships between participants' experiences, creating themes. The emergence of a theme in the majority of transcripts was considered as appropriate for inclusion in the list of themes. Themes that were unsupported by evidence or having low cross participant frequency were not used.

The analysis and verification of data took place after completion of the first interview and commenced when the final interview data was approved. The interview questions were designed to gain emergent themes with significance to the phenomenon of the study. The interview questions explored the participants' lived experiences of lean program implementation and evaluated the leadership strategies, styles, and traits needed to overcome resistance related to lean program implementations.

The content of all data collected, and the process of categorizing, coding, labeling organizing the data, and defined the primary themes of the data. NVivo 11 was used for the coding and categorizing of the data in this study, which provided a qualitative data analysis. The program allowed for the coding of text data for analysis permitting me to present data in a variety of ways such as graphs, tables, and matrixes. A summary of the demographical characteristics of the participants in the study was broken down by sex, the number of projects completed, experience, any other relevant information, and recorded in the NVivo 11 database.

Once all the interview data from each interview was transcribed and approved by the participants, the information was input to the NVivo 11 database. The use of NVivo 11 provided clear, concise, and well-formatted data that aided in the documenting and coding process to produce a logical output for trending of unstructured data. The use of computer technology and audio-recorded materials was used, this process requires manual input from me. To ensure the data integrity, I followed the practices outlined in 45 C.F.R. §46 (2016) for researcher protection of human subjects.

The coding of interview data was based on common themes that occurred with the NVivo 11 software application. This application was appropriate for use because it allowed for computer-aided qualitative analysis of data to facilitate textual and audio data sources. This application allowed me to import and analyze data from the participant interviews and transcripts. The software allowed themes and open coding to take place within the application as added by me. The data was then coded using axial coding techniques. Axial coding is the process of relating codes (categories and properties) through a mix of inductive and deductive thinking. Using coding to emphasize relationships and fit them into a basic framework of generic relationships (Strauss & Corbin, 1998).

Data saturation was reached "when there is enough information to replicate a study and the ability to obtain additional new information has been attained and when further coding is no longer feasible" (Fusch & Ness, 2015, para. 2). There is no set number for reaching data saturation in a research study of any design (Fusch & Ness, 2015). In this study, data saturation was a method applied when collecting data no longer provided additional or unique perspectives to the research problem.

Issues of Trustworthiness

This research study was completed with trustworthiness created by open communication between the participants and myself. The research proposed by Lincoln and Guba (1985) shared that perspective. This study draws extensively from the phenomenological philosophy of research whose antecedent literature is rooted in Lincoln and Guba (1985) and Guba and Lincoln (1989). The issues of trustworthiness in qualitative research that need to be revealed are credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Giba, 1985). Credibility is the ability of the researcher to present confidence in the accuracy of the findings.

Credibility

Credibility in a qualitative study is reliant on dependability. The credibility of a qualitative study includes both internal and external credibility to provide comparable and accurate answers. Credibility for a qualitative research study was established by using internal credibility for accuracy and trustworthiness of the participant, the reader, and me.

The internal credibility for this study was established using data involving time, space, and people, with different biases and strengths, to compliment and support each other to categorize common themes in data (Leedy & Ormrod, 2010; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The coded data analysis within this study consisted of interviews with participants in different locations on various dates and times, and used the same interview questions. I gained a variety of responses from participants that was supported by the literature reviews.

The use of data, involving interviews with participants who are professionally familiar with the study topic overcoming resistance to change within lean manufacturing program implementations was intended to add to the credibility of the qualitative phenomenological study (Giorgi, 2012; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I performed member-

checking on each participant interview allowing a transcription review of the interview to confirm the correctness of the results with each participant (Leedy & Ormrod, 2010). I used two data sources to include the interview text of participants' lived experiences and literature reviews to establish consistency for the materials reviewed in this study.

This research study collected data from participants to explore each participant's lived experience, demographic information, and finally, member-checking to ensure the credibility of the data. The participant's interview data was to be used to describe and included descriptions of the participants' lived experiences from both written, recorded, and orally documented accounts by me and verified for accuracy by the participant (Englander, 2012). Member-checking is a process where the final review of completed interview materials are returned to the participants (Kohlbacher, 2006) to offer them a chance to provide additional information or clarification (Patton, 2002). I documented the results to the best of my ability to include a narrative that can employed qualitative themes. Credibility was established in this study by member-checking.

Transferability

The qualitative phenomenological research method addresses transferability as it is applied to the readers of this research study. Transferability defines the process of applying the results of research data from one setting to other similar settings or external reliability (Englander, 2012; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Petty et al., 2012). In qualitative phenomenological research, the external credibility was ensured through the scope, boundaries that were defined, and the purposeful sampling of expert participants as literature evidence supporting the scope (Englander, 2012; Petty et al., 2012). The data analysis in this study was available to researchers, participants or those who wish to review the results, regarding professional development, evaluation, and performance. The participants in this study were qualified by the (see Appendix B) Participant Identification Demographics to ensure they met the needed criteria to interview for this study.

The use of open-ended, interview questions allowed me to ask questions with empirical and replicable research techniques (Englander, 2012). The use of thick descriptions provided details on the participants, experiences, methods, and roles in this study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Thick descriptions provided information to readers and allowing them to determine if the research situation described in the study applies to the reader's situation. Transferability, as indicated by Shenton (2004), is the external credibility that pertains to study findings that could be duplicated or applied to other similar situations. In the case of this study, efforts were made where possible to ensure that sufficient details were provided to context the study and allow study processes to be repeated in similar environments.

The transferability of the research is the ability to replicate the findings in other contexts or form. Transferability of the research was completed by using thick descriptions and in-depth analysis of the data. Thick descriptions are descriptions of behavior or actions that do not just describe the event, but also the context so that the behavior or action can be meaningful to or replicated by an outsider (McCloskey, 1988). The in-depth analysis is an extensive, thorough and profound detail of a problem issue or phenomenon that is significant to a broad audience (Shenton, 2004). The themes that

emerged from this study's data analysis, while not entirely transferable to a type of setting, may offer some transferability (Shenton, 2004). This study, as with most qualitative studies is not transferable.

Dependability

The elements of dependability and credibility of this study were confirmable within the qualitative portion of the study, which is the goal of this research. Credibility was established through strict adherence to the IRB, as required by Walden University. Dependability in this study was established by the data that shows many of the participant answers were similar in nature, as described in the interview answer section of the study. For this study, 20 participants were determined to be effective number from Walden University (2014).

The dependability is the consistency of the data that could be or is repeatable or able to be reconstructed (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The dependability aspects of this research are the ability for data over time to remain stable. The evaluation of the data collection, data analysis, and the theory generated to evaluate the quality of the study (Universal Teacher, n.d.).

This research included the reporting of the study's methodology and effectiveness by me, as a qualitative researcher. I included a description of the research design and its strategy for implementation, an operational explanation of how the data was collected, and a reflective appraisal assessing the effectiveness of the processes used in the study (Shenton, 2004). I carefully detailed the dependability of this study in the description of the study's processes and methodology in Chapter 3. In Chapter 5, I will include an evaluation of the effectiveness of the processes used in this study.

Confirmability

Confirmability is the point to which the results of the data could be confirmed or verified by other participants (Bryman, 2006). Confirmability is established through the literature review process, and the interview results from participants that show a replication of similar results to those found in the literature review with possibly more emerging themes. In this study, confirmability was completed through the checking and rechecking of information with participants through interviews, transcripts, and memberchecking processes.

Finally, the confirmability is the degree of the neutrality of data collected by me, how it is presented and that the findings are those of the participants' reflected lived experiences (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The degree to which the facts of the data can be confirmed or the data collaborates is a studies conformability (Guba & Lincoln, 1989). I could demonstrate that data has been checked and rechecked for accuracy and the process is documented, and repeatable for each participant provided the situation is the same using the same questions. It is hard to replicate a qualitative study due to the use of personal interviews, and over time, participants' views can change (Guba & Lincoln, 1989).

Ethical Procedures

I received approval of Walden University's IRB, with IRB Number 05-23-17-0537505, on May 22, 2017, confirming this study complies with the Walden University IRB guidelines for the protection of human participants (45 C.F.R. §46, 2016). As documented previously, all participants signed an Informed Consent Form for Study before any information was exchanged with regards to this study. I explained to the participants the purpose of the research, the processes that would be followed, and how results would be distributed, to ensure the use of ethical procedures. The consent form states that participants may remove themselves at any time, for any reason if they felt uncomfortable or no longer want to be a part of the study.

The foundation of this study was based on participant contributions through the lived experiences of each participant and the strategies the leaders used to overcome resistance in lean manufacturing program implementations. Participant contributions ensured a well-rounded representation in this study and they were selected from various manufacturing industries. The verification process was implemented with participant demographics (Appendix B) Participant Identification Demographics to assist in the confirmation that the sample of participants were from various sources and to ensure participants in the study would provide accurate information.

I removed all identifiable information from the interviews after each interview to keep participants' identities confidential. Therefore, interviews were numbered to match each participants number to keep information in order and to protect participants' identity. I know the identity of the participants'. Participants were informed in advance that the interviews would be audio recorded and later transcribed; a copy of the transcriptions of the interview was sent to each participant for verification. Each participant was given seven business days to respond to their transcriptions, or they were confirmed, accepted as is, and used within this study by me. The data was then interpreted later.

All interviews were conducted from my home, where I was the only person present during the interview process. Participants can choose their location to conduct the interview although the use of a computer was required. The participant can choose the computer they use for the interview. No company information was used in this study, but I confirmed whether all participants were, or are employed in the manufacturing industry. The data collected was only be used for the purposes discussed within this research study.

Summary

This chapter included the methodology that was used for this study. An interview was used to gain the lived experiences of participants. The interview design for this study, interview process, and data collection techniques were described. The ethical, transferability, credibility, and dependability of the information within this study were covered in this chapter.

The literature review reinforces the methodology used in this study, and this research may add to the body of knowledge of leadership strategies for overcoming resistance to change in lean manufacturing program implementations. Chapter 4 includes a description of the data collection and interpretation of the study. Chapter 5 concludes with study recommendations, implications for positive social change, and recommendations for future study.

Chapter 4: Results

In Chapter 3, I discussed the research methods I used to identify themes and explore the phenomenon of leadership strategies to overcome resistance during lean manufacturing program implementation. This discussion provided a foundation to explore the suitability of the methods for this qualitative phenomenological study. I also addressed qualitative interview procedures, criteria for recruiting research participants, data collection, and data analysis processes.

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore leaders' lived experiences of overcoming resistance to change and the strategies they used in doing so, specifically in the areas of lean manufacturing implementation. The research questions addressed the association between leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change and the successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs. In this chapter, I present the data analysis and results from the research interviews as they relate to the purpose of this study.

The sample population consisted of 20 qualified leader participants from LinkedIn databases of qualified lean manufacturing professionals. The participants had to have extensive knowledge, at least 5 years of experience, and knowledge in working with lean manufacturing programs and concepts. Participants also needed to have overcome resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs. An expert panel was used to review the alignment of the problem statement, purpose statement, and research questions guiding this study and the semistructured, open-ended interview questions.
Chapter 4 contains details on how the data from participant interviews supported or were not compatible with the literature review for this study. I have used these data to explore the leadership strategies used by leaders who successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs in their organizations. The statistics in this chapter reflect the results of the participant interviews. I explain any discrepant cases and nonconforming findings, patterns, themes, and relationships in the results. Lastly, I account for all salient data findings.

Research Questions

The purpose of this study was to gain information on the lived experiences of lean leaders to explore the leadership strategies used in manufacturing organizations to overcome resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs. The following questions guided this study:

- RQ1: What are the leadership strategies of leaders who successfully implement lean manufacturing programs to overcome resistance to change?
- RQ2: What are the lived experiences of leaders who overcame resistance to change within an organization while implementing lean manufacturing programs?

Ten semistructured, open-ended interview questions were generated from the two research questions guiding this study. The interview questions were designed to gain information from the research participants regarding the study phenomenon. Interview questions were used to explore the lived experiences of leaders in lean manufacturing professions and gain insight into their lived experiences related to overcoming employee resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations.

Pilot Study

The interview questions functioned as the primary instrument in this study (see Appendix C). I designed the questions to establish a framework for a semistructured, open-ended interview process. I used an expert panel to validate the interview questions.

A group of experts reviewed the interview and research questions as well as the problem and purpose statements. At the time of the panel's initial review, there was only one research question. The second research question in this study originally was presented as Interview Question 1, as shown in Appendix F. The expert panel of two men and one woman consisted of industry experts who had published research articles regarding lean manufacturing program implementation and overcoming employee resistance as well as industry leaders and consultants in the field of lean manufacturing.

The expert panelists did not make any changes to the research question, problem statement, or purpose statement, but recommended several revisions to the original interview questions for alignment to the research questions. I incorporated their suggestions into a list of 10 revised interview questions (see Appendix C). I removed Interview Question 1 from the original interview question list in Appendix F, designating it as RQ2, as suggested by the URR. A copy of the revised interview questions (see Appendix C) was sent to the expert panel members for final review. The expert panel participants did not offer any additional changes to the questions (see Appendix C).

Research Setting

The data for this study were collected with a qualitative phenomenological approach. Using LinkedIn, I contacted 98 individuals (equal numbers of men and women) identified on LinkedIn whom I thought met the demographic criteria for my research (see Appendix B for demographic qualification questions). I sent an introduction e-mail to those whom I had chosen (see Appendix A). I received responses from 32 potential participants. Twelve of these individuals were not qualified to participate due to limitations such confidentiality agreement issues, too few years of experience to meet participation requirements, inability to schedule an interview during available times, or other obligations at work or at home, that would not allow them to participate. I thanked prospective participants who were not qualified for contacting me and did not speak to them further concerning the study.

All participant interviews were scheduled outside working hours. I confirmed that each participant had signed the confidentiality form and understood the interview process. Only the participants and I were present for the actual interview process.

The interview process included questions regarding the extent of participants' involvement in the lean program implementation, the nature of participants' positions in the lean program implementation and leadership, and factors promoting or inhibiting the program. Participants were also asked about the use of program tools, employee resistance, leadership strategies used to overcome resistance, and individual experiences with lean program implementation. The interview process considered the quality efforts the lean manufacturing program attributes within an organization. I eliminated any potential conflict of interest and did not interview participants in any workplace location. I was mindful of and sensitive to biases limiting the judgments, views, opinions, and values of the participants. To accommodate our schedules, I interviewed participants on dates and times that were mutually convenient and agreed upon in advance. I conducted all interviews from my home, and the participants were located at a place of their choice.

Confidentiality

Once a participant expressed interest in the study, I e-mailed the prospective participant the informed consent form for completion in addition to the participant identification demographic questions (see Appendix B). Once these forms had been returned and a participant was determined to be qualified, I established an interview time and date with the participant. At that time, the participant was assigned a number from 1 to 20, which served to assure the confidentiality of the interview process. If I determined that a prospective participant was not qualified for the interview process, I returned all forms to the individual with an e-mail stating the qualification concern and thanked the individual his or her time, at which point my contact with that individual concluded.

I ensured that each participant had signed the confidentiality form and understood the interview process. Only the participant and I could attend the actual interview process. No identities were revealed during the recording process; a numbering system was used to identify participants. Any information provided was kept confidential, and personal information was not used for any purpose outside this research study. Before and after the interview process, I debriefed the participants and asked them whether they had any questions or needed an explanation of any of the questions or information exchanged. Each participant was reminded that his or her information would be confidential and that all information provided could be used for the study research process as outlined in the informed consent form. The transcribed interview data and any handwritten notes were provided to the participant to ensure accuracy. Once I had verified that all participant information was correct, conducted the interview, and completed the member-checking process to ensure quality control and accuracy, the credibility of the recorded interviews and transcripts was established.

All e-mail data were removed from my e-mail box and are stored in a secured computer file. All paper files have been stored in a locked box in my home. Study data were placed on a password-protected computer, accessible only by me.

Demographics

Each potential interview participant was asked to complete the participant identification demographics (Appendix B) before being chosen for the interview process. If the results from Appendix B did not meet the study criteria, I notified the potential interview participant via e-mail that he or she did not qualify for the study and returned Appendix B to him or her. If an individual met the criteria for this study, I sent him or her the informed consent form. In several cases, I sent Appendices B and C at the same time; if the participant was not qualified per Appendix B, both forms were returned to the potential participant. No records were kept of prospective participants who were deemed unqualified for the study. Once the transcriptions had been completed, participants' names were removed from the identification material in Appendix B, and participants were known only by assigned numbers 1 to 20. This measure was taken to maintain confidentiality. Once a participant approved the transcript, his or her name was removed from the transcript, and only the reference number was available to me. This was done to ensure that if the participant were to remove himself or herself from the study; all data could still be removed through the reference number assigned to all materials.

Of the 20 participants interviewed, six were women (30%) and 14 were men (70%). Titles of participants ranged from president and CEO to business systems coordinator, and participants' education levels ranged from associate's degree to master's degree in areas such as chemistry, business, and engineering. The experience levels of participants ranged from 5 plus years to 30 plus years practicing the implementation of lean manufacturing programs. Participants were employed in the manufacturing of goods from a wide variety of industries, from tires to soda to fully assembled automobiles; each was a lean manufacturing leader in his or her establishment. All participants had implemented at least one lean manufacturing program, and all had overcome resistance to change with tools and processes that were set in place by the lean manufacturing leaders and their teams. Table 1 contains the demographic data of participants.

Table 1

		Overcame		
		resistance to	Years of	
Participant	Title	change	experience	
	Certified Six Sigma Master Black Belt/Senior			
1	Business Operations Manager	Yes	25	
2	Founder/Consultant	Yes	15	
3	Advanced Quality Engineering Specialist	Yes	21	
4	Principal Lean Consultant	Yes	18	
5	Project Manager	Yes	26	
6	Principal Reliability Consultant	Yes	33	
7	Six Sigma Manager	Yes	16	
8	President	Yes	14	
9	CEO	Yes	20+	
10	Continuous Improvement Manager	Yes	12.5	
11	Lean Engineer	Yes	5+	
12	Manager, Process Improvement	Yes	10+	
13	Lean Six Sigma Specialist	Yes	17	
14	Lean Manufacturing Manager	Yes	14	
15	Lean Manufacturing Specialist Manager	Yes	5+	
16	Operation Manager/Lean Champion	Yes	20	
17	Business Systems Coordinator	Yes	5+	
18	President and CEO	Yes	28	
19	Lean Toyota Way Practitioner	Yes	20	
20	Sr. Manager of Manufacturing Operations	Yes	29+	

Participant Demographics

Data Collection

Data collections were conducted using the qualitative phenomenological approach to reveal findings where themes emerged. The use of the IPA method was applied to data collection, which was completed through purposeful sampling (Reid, Flowers, & Larkin, 2005). Emerging themes highlighted the interrelationships between datasets and the consistency of the data collected. The interview data entries were carefully numbered, sorted, and coded to protect the participants' identities and any company affiliations they might have. All participants provided adequate member-checking by reviewing their interview transcripts. All participants accepted their interview transcription data.

Participants

Lean manufacturing leaders were the participants of this study because they have the experience and knowledge in overcoming resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations. The qualitative research method in this study was employed and the purposeful sampling method used. This sampling method ensured the most appropriate participants were selected for the study. The participants' understanding of the views and experiences of the leadership strategies for overcoming employee resistance during the process of lean implementation may reveal opportunities to inform or improve the process for a successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs. All participants completed the demographic information (Appendix B) in the preliminary questionnaire. The eligible participants must have met all inclusion criteria, which is important to stipulate the attributes and boundaries of the sample to ensure the correct data is retrieved (Robinson, 2014).

Participants chose to interview in a location of their choice, date, and time at their convenience after 3:30 PM Central Standard Time (CST). Before proceeding with the interview session, participants were required to have completed both Appendix B and the informed consent form. Participants were ensured that signed documents and information would be stored in a safe location only accessible to me. The interview sessions spanned from 20 to 40 minutes. The average interview lasted 30 minutes. The first 3 to 5 minutes were used to review the confidentiality form and what would take place during the interview process. I also described the process for after the interview including the member-checking process and follow-up actions.

Transcription

All interviews were conducted and transcribed in English. I listened to the audio recordings when reviewing the transcripts to ensure that Dragon NaturallySpeaking translated the audio regarding content to the interview questions correctly and to align for accuracy. In many cases, I had to rewrite what Dragon NaturallySpeaking could not decipher.

The transcription process was completed for each interview participant. Once the interview transcript was in text format, notes were added and assembled the results were e-mailed to the participant for review and corrections to the transcript, as needed. All interviews were transcribed within 3 to 5 days after the interview to avoid errors of memory lapse as indicated by Giorgi (2012). Each participant was given 7 days to review the transcript and notes from their interview. If 7 days had passed without communication from the participant, the transcript was used as is. If changes were made to the transcripts, I made the changes and added to the NVivo 11 database. All changes and correspondence were added to the participant's file for storage.

Member-Checking

The member-checking process was used to validate the accuracy of the participant's interview transcript and any notes that were made by me. The transcript and notes along, with a thank you note (see Appendix D), were e-mailed to the participant. The participant was allowed seven business days to review the information and make any needed changes.

The thank you note (see Appendix D) was included in the documentation to explain this process. Once the participant either accepted the transcribed data or made changes to the transcript and returned it to me, the interview process was complete. I did receive changes to transcripts from two members', these changes were to clarify points that the participants made during the interview process, and these changes were added to the NVivo 11 data. This process was used for all 20 participants.

Bracketing

Bracketing is a methodological practice of phenomenology, used by me to suspend judgment and to focus on the analysis of experience (Chan et al., 2013). Giorgi, 2012; Leedy & Ormrod, 2010). Bracketing enabled me to set aside personal experiences that could have occurred, or that may have had an influence on the interview reporting of the participants lived experiences, so there was no introduction of undue bias.

A professional manner was established for each interview. Only first names were used in the interview process, and the number system of 1 to 20 was used after the interview process to keep each participant's identity secured. Any discussions between the participant and I took place after the interview process was completed. Before the interview, no information was exchanged on my past experiences. During each interview, I wrote down a few notes on the key takeaways, as needed from that interview, these notes were added to the audio transcription data for review by the participant, as applicable.

NVivo 11

Once all the participant interviews were transcribed, and the data was entered into NVivo 11 qualitative analysis tool. Nodes were created for each of the 20 participants'. A node was also created for each theme identified in the transcription data. Those elements of the interview data that did not fit into a specific node were captured in a node separate from the themed data. Each of the nodes contained relevant responses to describe the themes that emerged from the data. This provided organization and structure to track each participant's contribution to the theme and linked participants to a theme.

Data Analysis

The data analysis of interview results consisted of descriptions and interpretations of the participant's lived experiences as communicated through their responses during the interview process. The aim of the phenomenological study is to establish the meaning of lived experience shared by research participants (Moustakas, 1994; J. A. Smith, 2011). The descriptive and interpretative aspects of the participants' interview contain their lived experiences with and allowance for interpretation (Reid et al., 2005; J. A. Smith, 2011). The phenomenological interviews produced a significant amount of data. Many times a question or problem required the participant to detail their experiences through scenarios over a considerable amount of time.

The data generated from the participant interviews were analyzed to produce the meaningful analysis. I analyzed a large amount of data that were generated during this qualitative study with the help of the NVivo 11 software. As the interviews finished and

the member-checking was completed for each participant, their data then entered into the NVivo 11 database.

I applied the phenomenological research approach of IPA to the analysis of the collected data. The IPA is not a prescriptive methodology, and the analysis of the text and audio from each interview provided data for translation into emergent themes and a connection between themes across the interviews (J. A. Smith et al., 2009). I used IPA, as described by J. A. Smith (2011). I could understand the lived experiences of participants throughout their lean manufacturing program implementations.

Transcript data that were input to the NVivo 11 database under different headings, using the research questions as headings to be compared and identify relationships between participants' experiences, assisted in creating themes. The emergence of a theme in most transcripts is considered as appropriate for inclusion in the list of themes (Rubin & Rubin, 2005). Themes that were unsupported by evidence or having low cross participant frequency were not used.

The analysis and verification of data took place after completion of the first interview and commenced when the final interview data had been entered. The interview questions were designed to gain new themes with significance to the phenomenon of the study (Giorgi, 2012). The interview questions explored the participants' lived experiences of lean program implementation and explored the leadership strategies, styles, and traits needed to overcome resistance to change related to lean manufacturing program implementations. The NVivo 11 software and I took the content of all data collected and used a process of categorizing, coding, labeling organized the data, and to define the primary themes. NVivo 11 utilized for the coding and categorizing of the data in this study, which provided a qualitative data analysis. A summary of the demographical characteristics of the participants in the study was broke down by sex, the number of projects completed, experience, or any other relevant information is enclosed in this study.

The use of NVivo 11 provided clear, concise, and well-formatted data that aided the documenting and coding process to produce a logical output for trending of unstructured data. The use of computer technology and audio-recorded materials were used. This required manual input from me. To ensure the data integrity, I followed the practices outlined in 45 C.F.R. §46 (2016) for researcher protection of human subjects.

Data Saturation

Data saturation is reached when there is enough information the ability to obtain additional new information would not reveal additional results, that coding is no longer feasible, and the ability to replicate the study is available (Fusch & Ness, 2015). There is no set number for reaching data saturation in a research study of any design (Fusch & Ness, 2015). In this study, data saturation was achieved when collecting data no longer provided additional or exclusive perspectives to the research problem.

Coding of Data

The coding of interview data was done based on common themes that occurred with the NVivo 11 software application. This application allowed me to import and analyze data from the participant interviews and transcripts. The software allowed themes and open coding to take place within the application as added by me. The data then was coded using axial coding techniques. Axial coding is the process of relating codes (categories and properties) emphasized on causal relationships through a combination of inductive and deductive thinking and fit things into a basic frame of generic relationships (Strauss & Corbin, 1998).

Qualitative data analysis as stated by Bogdan and Biklen (1982) working with data and deciding what to tell others based on organizing it, breaking it into manageable until, synthesizing it, probing for patterns, learning what is important and determening what is to be learned. The analysis process for analyzing qualitative data requires some creativity the raw data needed to be placed into logical, meaningful categories, and then examined holistically to find ways to communicate its interpretations to others (Strauss & Corbin, 1998).

The conceptual framework for this study is Kotter's (1996, 2012) eight steps for process change. Kotter's eight-step process is one of the most recognized approaches to organizational transformation (Kotter, 1996; Mento et al., 2002). Kotter's eights steps for change model is a process of implementing and used in creating significant change. The eight steps model includes (a) establishing a sense of urgency, (b) creating a guided team, (c) developing a vision or an action plan, (d) communication the vision throughout the organization, and (e) empowering employees. In addition to (f) generating short term goals and wins, (g) sustaining the action plan for long term wins, and (h) approaching the new culture and processes with open minds. All data coding was completed in a manner to protect the privacy and confidentiality of the participants. Data used in the coding process produced a list of assigned codes for questions and participants, creating themes in the data sets. The methods and procedures for the data analysis consisted of data analysis, management of data tracking, and storage and protection of the data.

The types of data analyzed were word repetitions and comparisons of audiorecorded data. Through the review of participant transcripts, the development of patterns started to occur. The organization of the raw data took place for manually of the participant transcripts and audio-recorded interviews then input to NVivo 11. The raw data observed themes and integrated themes and codes in the datasets. After comparing the data with NVivo 11, the concepts and themes were visible. There were 12-word repetition themes found most prevalent in the participant interview data, they are labeled T1 through T12.

Themes

The NVivo 11 software provided a convenient platform to code responses that assisted in revealing emergent themes in the data. The lived experiences of the participants were reviewed adhering to the phenomenological method. Participant nodes after review and consideration, of the themes, linked together with the response and interview question nodes. Then each of the themes that emerged was based on the number of coded nodes supporting each lean leaders' experience.

The data analysis using the IPA methodology does not include a hypothesis, and the analysis is reflected in the participants' coded data of their own lived experiences (Gill, 2014). The approach to data analysis closely followed the broad phenomenological method of inquiry for philosophy as developed by Husserl and Heidegger on the premise that reality consists of objects and events described, as the participant perceives them to be (Groenewald, 2014). The following themes were discovered through the data analysis:

- Senior leadership participation (T1)
- Trust (T2)
- Allowing employees to experiment with processes for their areas (T3)
- Training (T4)
- Process alignment (T5)
- Key performance indicators and metrics (T6)
- What's in it for me (T7)
- Employee Buy-In (T8)
- Communication (T9)
- Employee incentives (money and promotions) (T10)
- Job security/preservation (T11)
- Listening to employees (T12)

A review of the themes that were addressed by participants was conducted. Each revealed how many participants addressed each of the themes in their interview. Table 2 shows that Participants 1, 2, 18, and 19 discussed all the themes within this study. Participants 8, 10, 11, and 20 addressed all, but one of the themes within this study. Six of the participants addressed ten of these themes, and four participants addressed nine of the themes. The least frequently discussed were themes T11 and T7. Table 2 illustrates all of the themes with all participants.

Table 2

Themes	by Particip	oant
--------	-------------	------

Participant	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5	T6	T7	T8	T9	T10	T11	T12	Total
1	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	12
2	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	12
3	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	8
4	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х			Х	Х		Х	7
5	Х	Х		Х	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	9
6	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	10
7	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	10
8	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	11
9	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х			Х	9
10	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	11
11	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	11
12	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	10
13	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х		Х	Х		Х	9
14	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х	9
15	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	10
16	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	10
17	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х	10
18	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	12
19	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	12
20	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	11
Total	20	16	17	18	18	17	11	15	20	17	14	19	

This review also paired the number of times that each theme was referenced to by each participant during the interview process. T1 and T4 were the most referred to themes by all those involved with 132 and 92 respectively. T9 and T12 were referred to the third and the fourth most often at 85 and 82 references apiece. The least referenced themes were T7 and T11 at 17 and 21 times, though lower than the other numbers these themes were referenced quite often and are relevant to this study based on the number of times mentioned. While no one participant did not address the areas of What's in it for

me? T7 and Job security/preservation T11 more than others; this theme was mentioned widely mentioned throughout the interview process with multiple participants, as they are both factors in overcoming resistance to change. However, neither by theme by itself is a solution to overcome the resistance to change by employees.

Table 3

Participant	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5	T6	T7	T8	T9	T10	T11	T12	Total
1	8	4	1	5	2	3	1	1	2	3	2	3	35
2	4	1	1	3	4	4	1	1	2	1	2	3	27
3	4	0	2	0	2	1	2	0	4	0	2	3	20
4	9	0	3	0	3	4	0	0	11	2	0	3	35
5	9	4	0	5	4	0	1	0	2	2	2	6	35
6	9	2	0	6	5	2	1	1	5	2	0	3	36
7	5	3	0	1	3	4	0	1	1	6	2	2	28
8	9	1	1	11	1	3	0	2	6	1	2	2	39
9	6	5	1	7	3	0	2	2	3	0	0	3	32
10	4	3	4	1	5	3	1	0	10	1	1	4	37
11	16	2	5	6	4	7	1	2	5	0	0	3	51
12	5	3	2	3	2	3	0	1	6	4	0	4	33
13	8	2	4	14	5	5	2	0	4	3	2	4	53
14	1	0	1	2	2	4	0	1	4	1	2	6	24
15	4	0	6	5	3	10	0	1	4	2	1	7	43
16	6	0	2	10	4	2	0	2	3	1	1	7	38
17	7	2	2	1	2	5	0	4	3	1	0	4	31
18	6	2	3	4	2	10	3	1	4	2	1	5	43
19	6	2	2	5	4	3	1	1	3	1	1	4	33
20	6	2	1	3	1	5	1	2	3	2	0	6	32
Total	132	38	41	92	61	78	17	23	85	32	21	82	

Number of References Coded for Each Participant by Theme

Table 3 gives a brief snapshot of the relationship between participants and themes that developed from this studies interview process. The lived experience themes allow the reader to ascertain the most discussed areas in the interview process and accentuate the prominence of these themes among the participants. The relevance of these themes to the research questions guiding this study will be addressed in the study results section.

Participant Quotes

All participants answered the same semistructured, open-ended questions. Using the interview process enabled the research to facilitate time management and added structure to the participant interactions. Participants when applicable gave additional references to support their cases related to overcoming resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations.

When looking at research, question number one the focus is on leadership strategies to overcome resistance to change, 'Please tell me what leadership strategies leaders who have successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs and overcame resistance to change have used? Tell me about a situation where you successfully overcame the most resistance within a group, when implementing a lean manufacturing program/task?' Participant 2, who was female, applies all the themes of this study in her response,

For a successful implementation, you need to apply all the main strategies at different times. This means that transformational leadership style is best used at the beginning. When you are communicating the changes, you want to make. When you are trying to get people motivated, you want employees to have buy-in to the changes that are going to be made. You are also using a Transactional strategy by explaining the change to them personally and to the company as a whole. That then leads to key performance indicators and metrics development, which, hopefully, leads to employee development plans for employees. Showing employees how the changes benefit them. Which then leads to the Authoritative strategy, once everything is complete, processes are in place, and waste reduction the goal should be for employees not to fall back into old bad habits.

To follow up on Participant 2's support of the themes Participant 20 echoed the support in respect to gaining leadership strategies for support of lean program processes,

Over the years, I have used many different ones. High performing organizations are one. It is still offered by one major consultant out there. It helps to take plant workforce groups and form them based on their locals on the production floor. Helps them (employees) become owners of the work from gathering data, manipulating and calculating data, almost self-directed with minimal oversight on a daily basis. Doing just that with work teams helps to make the leadership effective. The total productive management of manufacturing. If there is resistance, it is because the understanding is not there. They (employees) do not understand the terms and making them, a dictionary of the terms is needed. As well as how it is going to make the company better and secure their jobs possible. Versus having to lay people off. Helping employees to see what's in it for them. As long as we could break it down to their lingo, using terms that make sense to the employees. Helps them to grasp the changes and helps to make the plant more cost effective and better for them and their future.

Participant 12 also added:

It cannot be a lip service kind of thing. It starts with people doing traditional project management. It all starts with goals. Every director and every associate should have goals that lead up to improvement work. Managers sometimes like to

add improvement work but have not set aside time for the employees to do the improvement work. That is where the things get risky. You have to have the buyin from managers and directors to get things going because you need resources; you need people to do the work.

Participant 6 commented,

The support from operations and maintenance was key to transforming the program. Planning, scheduling, and executing plans rather than emergency work, employees' lives change when they are not working so hard. As time passed on leaders were talking and seeing that the program was working. Lives were changing; the program allowed them to gain a break by removing the processes that were not working and streamlining those that were to change jobs. In turn, employees were working smarter, not harder and longer hours. Employees understood their jobs better, and their jobs got easier.

The participants' comments support the themes to answer the research question number one. The leadership strategies that help leaders overcome resistance to change during lean program implementations are senior leadership participation and listening to the employees are two of the vital strategic inputs to successfully overcoming resistance to change during a lean implementation. Also, these top themes coincide with a conceptual framework for this study Kotter's (1996, 2012) eight steps to process change.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Credibility for this qualitative research study was established by using internal credibility for accuracy and trustworthiness of the participant, the reader, and me. The credibility of this study used data involving time, space, and participants, with different biases and strengths, to compliment and support each other through their own lived experiences. I used two data sources to include interview data of participants lived experiences and literature reviews to establish consistency for the materials reviewed in this study. I also performed member-checking on each participant and allow a transcription review of data to confirm the correctness of the interview results with each participant.

I documented the results to the best of my ability. Credibility is established in this study by member-checking; member-checking was completed for each participant. A process where the final account of specific description or themes are taken back to the participants (Kohlbacher, 2006) to offer them the opportunity to offer perspective and an alternative interpretation to their first interview data (Patton, 2002).

Transferability

Transferability defines the process of applying the result of research data from one setting to other similar settings or external reliability (Englander, 2012; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Petty et al., 2012). I ensured the scope and boundaries were defined using a purposeful sampling of participants and literature evidence supporting the scope overcoming resistance in lean manufacturing program implementations. The participants in this study were qualified by the (Appendix B) Participant Identification Demographics to ensure they met the needed criteria to interview for this study.

The use of open-ended, semistructured interview questions allowed me to ask questions with empirical and replicable research techniques. The use of thick descriptions provides details on the participants, experiences, methods, and roles in this study. Transferability, as indicated by Shenton (2004), is the external credibility that pertains to study findings that could be duplicated. In the case of this study, all efforts were made where possible to ensure that sufficient details were provided for replication purposes.

Dependability

Dependability in this study was established by the data that shows many of the participant's answers were similar, as described in the interview answer section of this study. The dependability is the consistency of the data that it could be or is repeatable or able to be reconstructed (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). This research includes the reporting of the study's methodology and effectiveness by me, as a qualitative researcher.

I included a description of the research design and its strategy for implementation, an operational description of how the data was collected and reflective appraisal assessing the effectiveness of the processes used in the study. I carefully detailed the dependability of this study in the description of the study's processes and methodology in Chapter 3. In Chapter 5, I include an evaluation of the effectiveness of the processes used in this study.

Confirmability

Confirmability was established through the literature review process, and the interview results from participants that show a replication of similar results to those found in the literature review with additional emerging themes. In this study, confirmability was completed through the checking and rechecking of information with participants through interviews, transcripts, audio recordings, and the member-checking process. Confirmability is the degree of the neutrality of data collected. How that data is presented and that the findings are those of the participants' lived experiences and interests are reflected in the data results. The process is documented and repeatable for each participant using the same interview questions for each interview conducted. It is hard to replicate a qualitative study due to the use of personal interviews, and over time, the views of participants can change (Guba & Lincoln, 1989).

Study Results

This study focused on the two research questions. An expert panel, of three lean manufacturing professionals, reviewed the questions to ensure that the interview questions correctly represented the results that I was looking to achieve from this study, validated the interview questions. The concepts addressed in the interview questions focused on leadership strategies, leadership traits and the lived experiences of leaders who had overcome resistance to change during lean manufacturing implementations.

The interpretation and understanding of the themes are in line with the theories of leadership strategies, leadership style, and leadership traits and their effects on overcoming employees' resistance to change. The participants agreed to semistructured open-ended, face-to-face interviews, with in-depth dialogue, and engaging in follow-up questions (Seidman, 2006; J. A. Smith, 2011) that allowed me to explore the phenomenon and provide thorough answers that addressed the overarching research questions guiding this study:

RQ1: What are the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change in successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs?

RQ2: What are the lived experiences of leaders who overcame resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs?

I collected data based on the lived experiences of leaders who have influenced change management through lean manufacturing program implementation by addressing the strategies needed to overcome employee resistance. The research question one was designed to allow participants to discuss the leadership strategies that they had used in their organization to overcome resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs. Research Question 2 focused on the lived experiences of lean leaders to reveal how they overcame resistance to change in their organizations during lean implementations.

Twelve themes emerged from the 20 participant interviews. These themes revealed themselves through reading and reflection as well as the assistance of the NVivo 11 software, which led to coding and the significant supporting statements made by participants. Other concepts involved the nature of the knowledge and perception of the participant relevant to lean program implementations. The themes identified in this study support the Research Question 1 are the T1, T3, T4, T5, T6, T7, T8, T10, and T11 all support organizational leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change. Themes T2, T9, and T12 are the key leadership traits that enable leaders to overcome resistance to change within a manufacturing implementation. The lived experiences of lean leaders were reviewed in the dialogue with each participant to solidify the major themes of this study further.

Overall Results

All 20 of the participants revealed that senior leaders' need to participate and be active in a lean manufacturing implementation. All 20 (100%) also indicated that the lack of senior leadership participation slows down, stops, or derails a lean program implementation. Two participants also indicated that this stoppage or derailment could lead to program failure. A statement made by Participant 1: "That is the biggest factor is leading from the top to bottom. When we see failure, we do not see that. I see that now in my organization, how important the top leading the way, but did not see that in the one that failed." Participant 6 also said, "The leadership is key to success or failure the leadership needs to understand the culture and the lean process or be receptive to learning it."

Leadership Traits. Leaders come in all shapes and sizes. Leadership traits that are effective to overcoming employee resistance to change, can vary from organization to organization this can depend on the team, manager, and work environment. The traits that lean leaders mentioned throughout this study that resulted in high scores were Communication (100%), Trust (80%), and Listening to employees (95%). These traits are common throughout Kotter's (1996, 2012) eight steps of change, the conceptual framework for this study and supported by the literature review.

Trust. Trust in culture as a whole has declined in institutions and companies revealing it is significantly lower than it was just a short decade ago (Covey, 2009). Approximately 1 in 3 employees do not trust the organizations they work for (Meinert, 2016). There are many reasons that employees do not trust their employers. This lack of trust from employees can add to resistance within lean change implementation; Participant 6 stated, "Trust has to be built." Gone are the days of the mindset where leaders speak from high above, and employees follow without a second thought (Covey, 2009).

Leaders need to establish a coalition with employees they need to set standards for the organization to get things accomplished that is part of the job. In doing so, leaders also must build integrity, and overbearing and aggressive leadership is not the answer (Meinert, 2016). Leaders today need to establish a plan for what they are looking to achieve, show compassion and kindness by allowing for input from employees whom many times know how the job works best.

Over 80% of the lean leaders in this study stated that employee and leadership trust is key to overcoming resistance. For leaders building true transformation starts with building credibility at the personal level (Covey, 2009). Trust can be created, as one of the interview participants added, "Once you are trusted they (employees) will follow you, and you are part of their team. They will trust you when you do the work like mop the floor and sweep the floor. If the employees see that humble approach, they will start to trust you. Employees will see the program as here to stay."

Communication. Communication is necessary within an organization or a relationship, if you do not have it you are working with a deficit from the beginning. Leadership and communication go hand in hand. The flow of communication is an exchange of ideas, information, or feelings from a sender to a receiver (U.S. Army, 1983).

As themes emerged in this study relating to communication, 20 of 20 (100%) of the participants indicated that communication between leaders and their teams is key to success in a lean program implementation. Participant 10 stated,

First employees want leaders to be real and tell the truth. They (employees) do not want sugarcoated reality. There is a lot of fake in management level positions. People can see through that. If you are in trouble, then you need to tell them (employees) you are in trouble. Be honest with what is happening. We (senior leaders) have to do something about the issues or we will fold, are you going to be part of the fix? Employees need to be asked. It is easy to whine, but show them the big picture and why we need to do it. When they know their jobs are at stake, they will help. Clear and honest communication will earn respect. They appreciate honesty and presentation of reality, supported by data and they will help.

Participant 3 added,

Employees want to be informed, kept informed, and involved. Employees need to be treated like adults. Keep them informed to keep them involved and not just in the beginning through the entire project. Also, listen to them, talk to them, and follow up with them on changes. Communication is needed to keep them in engaged and be personable.

Leaders need to make sure that people are doing what they are supposed to be doing and what needs to be done. Most failures to overcome resistance to change are not due to poor leadership, but due to lack of effective communication (Covey, 2009).

Listening to employees. By listening to employees, leaders show that they value their feedback on change. Active listening is needed to understand what the employees' issues and concerns are. During a change of any kind Participant 3 stated,

Speaking from the heart regarding what is happening, emotions are running high and I want to let employees know I am not trying to drive my agenda, but want us to work together to improve the organization. I suspend my ego and use servant leadership.

Over 90% of participants in this study agree that listening to employees is a vital trait to overcoming resistance. Barbuto, Jr., and Wheeler (2006) have developed a scale, which measures the eleven possible dimensions of servant leadership. These eleven dimensions are stated as the primary leadership traits, listening, empathy, healing, awareness, persuasion, conceptualization, foresight, stewardship, growth, and community building (Pujol, 2012). Most these traits listed as themes in this study, show that servant leadership is a leadership strategy that can be used to overcome resistance to change.

Research Questions

The leadership strategies of leaders who successfully implement lean manufacturing programs, to overcome resistance to change are senior leadership participation, allowing employees to experiment with processes for their areas and training. As well as process alignment, key performance indicators, and metrics, what's in it for me, employee buy-in, employee incentives (money and promotions), and job security/preservation. The key leadership traits are trust, communication, and listening to employees.

The lived experiences of leaders who overcame resistance to change within an organization while implementing lean manufacturing programs range from successful with minimal resistance to overcoming many different resistances. Participant 16 shared,

First is ownership, the leader has to be willing to invest in the people and infrastructure. Develop some leaders quickly that are very close to the floor. Do not be afraid to spend money. Do major transformations first. After kaizen event, make change happen rapidly. Do not compromise on absolutes.

The participant further explained that the biggest and quickest way to transformational acceptance is through senior leadership participation. Many times, senior leaders are busy with many subordinates and travel, but even a small amount of involvement can make a large impact on how fast change can happen. Participant 17 followed up with,

Leadership strategies need to include listening to the employee's concerns, explain the tools and process using terms and examples that relate to their experience. Employees need to practice using the tools and processes on something related but similar to their everyday work. Let employees lead the change I have found that that the biggest *naysayer* or person that says *it will not work here* becomes the best champion for change if they are charged with ensuring the change is successful and meets the expected criteria.

Discrepant Cases/Nonconforming Data

There were a few recommendations from participants that were not repeated in this study, but are also possible strategies for overcoming resistance to change are honesty and humility. Participant 1 stated,

I would have to say the honesty, trust, and integrity. That is so valuable to me. There is a book about level five leadership. Humility and will, the book talks about level five leaders; at the CEO, level and how they were successful using this method. He picked top five companies, and the traits were humility and will. How leaders live in plain houses and are part of the crowd along, with the will to succeed. It has a lot of risks. Six Sigma has a stigma, with time, and training and all these negative aspects that it takes to implement. You need to be very humble, and I will be the first to apologize and take responsibility for that. The rigor you have to stay with the program and rely on core values to get there, trust, honesty, and integrity. I like to use humility and will for program wide not just projects.

The participant also said that the core values of leadership are accurate indicators of if the program will or will not be successful. Another discrepant case but possible a strategy that was mentioned aspect was from Participant 2,

The big thing that makes a difference in the approach. You have some leaders with the thought that most people do not want to perform at their highest level. Then you have people like me who think that most people want to perform and want to do a good job. There are very few people, like 2% really, that do not care about what happens at work. Most people want to do well and feel like they have had a productive day. Most employees want to succeed. In my experience, there are three basic ways to make sure that employees want to go above and beyond earning a paycheck. First is the opportunity of earning more money, second is earning more time off, whether it be hours off, a longer lunch break, or getting off work an hour or two early to see their kid's play or other events. The other is recognition for what they do or achieve, or the ability to be heard. If you cover those things when putting together lean & KPI programs, the majority will perform at their highest level.

According to Participant 2, the employees want to succeed and be successful at work, however, the obstacles that are in the way many times are just too great and cause unneeded delays. There are a lot of moving parts during a lean manufacturing program implementation joining in and keeping the group moving forward creating a trust between employees and leaders is vital. This can help to make a program successful and keep timelines moving forward.

Summary

This chapter included the methodology that was used for this study. A qualitative phenomenological interview process was used to gain the lived experiences of

participants. The interview design for this study, interview process, and data collection techniques were described. The ethical, transferability, credibility, and dependability of the information within this study were covered in this chapter. This chapter addresses the research questions guiding this study:

RQ1: What are the leadership strategies of leaders who successfully implement lean manufacturing programs, to overcome resistance to change?

RQ2: What are the lived experiences of leaders who overcame resistance to change within an organization while implementing lean manufacturing programs?

This chapter presented the data analysis and resulted from the research interviews as it relates to the purpose of this study. Chapter 4 contained the detail of how the data from the participant interviews supports or does not support the literature review of this study. The data was used to determine the leadership strategies used by leaders who have successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs in their organizations. The statistics in this chapter are from the results of the participant interviews; they contain the research data presented in this study. This chapter explained any discrepant cases and nonconforming findings, patterns, themes and relationships in the results. Lastly, the chapter accounted for all salient data findings.

The purpose of Chapter 1 was to highlight the leadership strategies to overcome employees' resistance to change during the implementation of lean manufacturing programs. Chapter 2 provides a literature review of the empirical literature on lean manufacturing, resistance to change, overcoming change, and the leadership traits needed to overcome resistance to change. Chapter 3 includes an examination of research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, methodology, and the issues that could be found throughout the study and data collection processes. Chapter 5 concludes with study recommendations, implications for positive social change, and recommendations for future study. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The overall research results indicated a relationship between leadership strategies, leadership traits, and successful lean manufacturing program implementation. Chapter 5 includes a summary and discussion of how the research results contribute to the body of knowledge on overcoming resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations. This chapter also includes conclusions from the results and future research recommendations for study within this topic.

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore leaders' lived experiences of overcoming resistance to change and the leadership's strategies used, specifically in the areas of lean manufacturing implementation. The method used for collecting and evaluating the data was IPA. The semistructured interview process was used to collect data from participants who have implemented lean manufacturing change. The intent of this study was to explore the leadership strategies used for successful lean program change and to overcome resistance to change during program implementations.

Interpretation of Findings

The overall purpose of this study was to determine the leadership strategies needed for successful organizational lean program change. In previous research, the correlation concerning program structure and consideration increased an organization's overall positive performance in lean management implementations (David et al., 2015; de Vries et al., 2010; Zacher et al., 2014). Leaders can use many skills within their strategies to overcome resistance to change. The significance of this research may add to the body of knowledge needed to address the leadership strategies for overcoming resistance to change in organizations implementing lean manufacturing programs. Past results of lean manufacturing program implementations have had less than favorable results. Those that have successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs had trouble sustaining long-term results (Atkinson, 2013). The three metrics used in this study to determine success were leadership strategies, leadership traits, and the lived experiences of leaders who have overcome resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations.

The research questions guiding this study were focused on the leadership strategies of leaders who had successfully overcome resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs. According to the interview data, lean manufacturing leaders have experienced a variety of different leadership strategies to overcoming resistance to change amongst employees during a lean implementation. Over 85% of those interviewed mentioned servant leadership style as the main leadership style used during lean implementation. These participants expressed that the humility and servant leadership is just one approach to successful lean implementation leadership. **Results Discussion**

The results of this study confirmed that there is a correlation between leadership strategies and the ability to overcome resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations. Of the lean leaders interviewed for this study, 100% agreed that top leadership participation is the key strategy to lean program success. This therefore supported the literature that the leadership strategies need senior leadership
support to be successful (Agboola & Salawu, 2011; Marynell, 2013; Pujol, 2012; Spangenberg & Theron, 2013). By addressing senior leader participation and listening to employees, lean program implementations can be successful. These are two of the vital strategic inputs to successfully overcoming resistance to change during a lean implementation (Kotter, 1996, 2012).

All participants interviewed agreed that leadership communication is an essential trait that effective leaders must possess. This again confirmed the past literature that indicated effective communication skills in leaders could help them to overcome the opinions of change and see employees' perceptions (Bourne, 2013; Dunicn & Keaster, 2015). These top themes coincide with a conceptual framework for this study, Kotter's (1996, 2012) eight steps of change (see Figure 1).

Over 90% of participants said that listening to employees and gaining their feedback and input on what will work best for their areas is key to success in a lean implementation. Participant 17 stated,

If it is the management style that we are going to do this and then tackle this. If its seen as the flavor of the month, and employees think why even start if in a month we will change. Therefore, the resistance is why even to start if this is the flavor of the month, why bother. The other thing is if employees have always been trying to share information, and sharing with management that does not respond. If management already knows what they want to do without input, then employees will not even bother. It is the management and the leadership that needs to be listening and taking action.

While senior leadership may be the main catalysis for lean program change, there are also other strategies to consider. Leadership responsibilities do not reside solely with the CEO or the senior management team, but should be present at all levels of the organization (Atkinson, 2010). Over 80% of the participants interviewed agreed that employees want to be part of the change and experiment with processes for their areas. Employees need to have their roles explained relative to their work areas, and leaders need to allow employees to be trained on their jobs. Rewards need to be given to employees when they have successfully achieved organizational goals. The managers also need to allow feedback and learning from employees. Leaders need to know what is happening.

While there is not one process that will overcome all employee resistance to change, there are varieties of strategies that leaders can employ. Participant 12 said,

There are many important things like goals. Everybody has to have a goal. The design methodology is needed we (lean leaders) will always use a charter. We will always prioritize problems and have an intake system to prioritize problems. We need to have a return on investment tool, like everyone's salary for each region and across the country, with current and future state to tabulate hours, Gant charts, and dashboards to see what is taking place for associates and sponsors. Having a newsletter at the end of the Kaizen event, to document results can be used. Now you will have people reporting events; it is like magic.

Burns (1978) also suggested that leadership is a very involved process that requires the participation of leaders and employees at all levels of the organization. This finding suggested that top leadership is a vital part of any lean program implementation.

Leadership strategy. Researchers have indicated that certain leadership strategies and traits are critical for lean manufacturing program success. A 10-question, semistructured interview process was conducted with 20 lean manufacturing program leaders. These leaders had manufacturing experience ranging from 3 to 29 years. The participants in the interview process had all implemented lean programs in manufacturing environments ranging from tires, food, automobiles, and automotive parts. The results indicated several lean leadership strategies that can be used to implement lean manufacturing programs successfully. Leadership traits also played a role in the leaders' success in overcoming resistance to change during the program implementation.

During the interview process, many of the participants mentioned the Toyota way as one method of strategy that they have followed. The Toyota production system incorporates continuous improvement, respect for people, right sizing processes for the right results, and value adds to the organization and customers through problem-solving at the root cause and continuous learning (Likert, 2004). Many of the attributes of this program were shown in the results of this study (Tables 1 and 2).

An additional strategy that participants used to overcome resistance to change was a strategy of thinking about thinking, a method developed by Rother (2009), a lean leader and researcher, who based his strategy on the Toyota Kata methodology. Over 60% of the participants of this study used the Toyota method in some form. The Toyota Kata methodology uses management practices and offers guidance for leading and developing people in a way that makes the best use of the employees' special skill sets (Rother, 2009). The Rother method provides "the systematic pursuit of desired conditions by utilizing human capabilities in a concerted way" (para. 3). The results of this study are in line with this strategy of leadership and methodology for lean program implementations.

Lived experiences. Throughout the study, participants mentioned a wide variety of lived experiences related to overcoming resistance to change. Many participants emphasized that sitting down, listening to people, and giving them the benefit of the doubt works wonders at overcoming employee resistance. Communication skills are needed, and it comes down to active listening to understand what the employees' issues and concerns are. This listening element was also reflected in past literature where the five-step approach to trust building is made up of the following behavior traits: engaging, listening, envisioning, framing, and committing to the organizational change (Martin et al., 2015).

When it came to lean, employees who have either been through an implementation or heard horror stories of implementations fear many misconceptions. Employees have heard many tales about what lean means; it is important to have a training and development program to clarify the misconceptions up front. The most common fear amongst employees is job loss, with 80% of interviewed participants expressing this concern. Senior leadership must implement lean for the right reasons. If organizations are looking to cut employees, they must disclose this information to employees. Honesty between top leaders and employees helps to eliminate misconceptions. Previous researchers have found that trust violations with leadership due to their destructive actions can develop negative employee attitudes, resulting in significant resistance (Reisel et al., 2013). Over 90% of participants also agreed that trust is a vital component of overcoming employee resistance.

Employees also need to see results. The employee teams need to be crossfunctional, participate in understanding, and see how important it is to create results. Once the employees see the results, the senior leaders will also see the results. Senior leadership needs to show the lean program as a growth and promotional opportunity. According to 85% of participants, key performance indicators and metrics play a vital role in successful lean manufacturing program implementations. As Participant 3 explained,

You need the ability to see if the metrics work or if they need to be changed. Sometimes the metrics we start with are not the ones that are kept; they need to grow. There are two comparisons, start and implemented, not showing the financial information over time, will not show the progress.

Lean programs can give the employees a chance to see more of what their jobs mean and opportunities that can be created. Participant 2 stated, "This is when employees can see the light and understand what is happening the tipping point." The tipping point happens when the employees equate the journey with their successes. Employees who can successfully comply with this uncertainty differentiate themselves and may become future leaders in the organization (Al-Haddad & Kotnour, 2015). In eight steps of change, Kotter (2012) explained the systematic method to complete and organize the change journey that achieves successful lean manufacturing program change. In this study, alignment was a theme that emerged from the data set. Participants (90%) expressed a mindset that change is needed when lean programs were being implemented in their facilities; top leaders can no longer overlook processes, and each process needs to be viewed and alignments need to be made. According to Pakdil and Leonard (2015), resistance comes when employees, shareholders, and all other stakeholders are unable to understand the top-to-bottom processes. The development of these organizational processes makes the most of the organizational capabilities that can result in a competitive advantage. This theme was confirmed in the participant facilities that were reviewed.

The results of this study indicated that one leadership strategy is not sufficient to generate the success within a lean manufacturing program implementation and overcome resistance to change. Instead, multiple leadership strategies and leadership traits from various models may be more a more appropriate approach. This study suggested that top leadership participation and communication are the main leadership strategies needed to achieve a lean program implementation success to overcoming resistance to change. Further study could determine which aspects of top leadership participation are most successful in overcoming resistance to change.

Limitations of the Study

This research is limited by several factors. There were only 20 participants interviewed for this study; not all lean manufacturing leaders from all manufacturing

fields were included in the process. The study's transferability and design includes a purposeful sampling of participants the small number of participants interviewed were all from different manufacturing organizational settings, making a variety of different products from different locations throughout the United States. Data collected and study findings may not apply to other participants of various locations or manufacturing industries.

An additional limiting factor was the nature of the phenomenon of leaders' lived experiences of overcoming resistance to change and the leadership's strategies used. Some of the study participants may have withheld information or based their interview answers on their convictions, though there was nothing offered in return for their responses positively or negatively. Data collected from study participants may not reflect the true nature of the study. The participants were believed to possess considerable knowledge in lean manufacturing, with at least 5 years of experience to provide their lived experiences to the research topic. The data in this study consisted only of information collected from the participants during the recruitment and the semistructured interview processes.

There are limitations inherent to any study. This study's credibility was protected by using multiple validation strategies that include bracketing, member-checking, thick descriptions, and expert panel review. Dependability was addressed by providing accurate descriptions of the study's methodology. Finally, confirmability was ensured by the literature review process, interview transcripts, and detailed description of the study's methodology. The transferability of study results may not be generalizable or applicable because of these study limitations.

Recommendations

The future of overcoming resistance in lean manufacturing implementations is not an exact science. There is no perfect format for overcoming resistance. Employee resistance during times of change will vary from organization to organization. One thing that does not change is an organization's need to improve their bottom line. Organizations must be able to adapt to a changing market place; financial uncertainty encourages leaders to implement lean programs as an approach to reduce costs and increase cash flow.

Resistance, change readiness, and leadership has the potential to speed up, slow down, facilitate, or hinder, how change factors interact within every organization remains unclear. Leaders can identify resistance early on by understanding the reasons why employees resist change and prepare employees ahead of time, producing a change readiness process. Leaders by using this process to create buy-in and acceptance from employees to make them active contributors to change and having accountability to the organization will increase change acceptance to a level that allows the change process to avoid major pitfalls associated with change.

The data from this study shows that leadership strategies need to include senior leadership participation; multiple methodologies include top management in their processes with specific responsibilities to employees. Prior research indicated that top management participation was also key to successful lean program implementations. Leaders play a critical role in change and strategy to make change through creating a vision. This study included a variety of different manufacturing locations for the study. Possible future studies could include only one industry such as automotive or food and beverage as their focus group. This could explore the correlation between resistances to change within a specific industry with different manufacturers, with locations throughout the United States.

Future research might focus on specific employee behaviors that follow each change process, to obtain a better understanding of the resistance in line with the change. Focusing on the potential triggers and risk factors that are changes specific and how these factors affect leadership strategies in lean program implementations. Additionally, research duplicating this study in different fields or a specific set of organizations could reveal additional leadership strategies that lead to effective lean manufacturing program implementations.

Future research may focus on one or two locations as a comparison between locations. The participant interviews could take place with leaders and employees at different levels of the organization. This could be done to evaluate the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change with a firsthand look at what employees at all levels see as the most effective strategies for overcoming resistance to change within a lean manufacturing program implementation.

Implications for Social Change

Social change is a feeling or an alteration to what is normally expected from society. This change can be either large, encompassing an entire community or small

encompassing, only one person. The change in social models dates to the 1800s in a time when social structure was characterized by symbols, behaviors, and values (Wilterdink, 2016). Social change in the simplest of terms is any change in the social structure or process within a social structure (Wilterdink, 2016). This study may support leaders overcoming resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing processes and helping employees to understand the change process, making small changes to organizational culture.

Communication is a vital part of every relationship whether personal or working (Heide & Simonsson, 2014). A compelling need exists to improve communication within the lean manufacturing environment during times of great change. Ineffective communication is often a major barrier toward introducing changes in a lean manufacturing environment (de Vries et al., 2010). The need for communication to be clear and to the point is needed for in fast changing environments.

The communication of change has become an issue for leaders. Ineffective or inaccurate change communication by leadership can lead to employee uncertainty, confusion, and distrust (Bourne, 2015). Even when there is a need for change, to bring results if the communications are not clear and presented in an effective manner the full implementation of the change will likely not occur (Bourne, 2015). When half measures are presented as fact employees gain a perception of leadership and the organization this focus found that one of the main factors of resistance to change by employees is communication from leadership.

The findings of this study indicate that organizational leadership needs to communicate with employees the need for change in an effective manner, based on employee perceptions of change communication. Improving change communication can reduce employee resistance to change by creating a change-oriented culture, in which the change process is living and continuously improving (Bourne, 2015). As leaders obtain the strategies needed to communicate change effectively and efficiently, this will reduce employee resistance and make the change process operate more smoothly within the organization (Heide & Simonsson, 2014). By improving communications with employees during times of change, leaders could increasing the willingness of employees to participate in the process, change communication strategies and implementation of processes can become inclusive when additional viewpoints are needed to assist in organizational progress.

By improving the change communication processes of an organization, leaders could decrease the need to respond reactively. By reducing the timelines for implementations of changes, and increasing knowledge of employees through the change process while reducing costs within an organization through timely implementations. Lower level employees of an organization can make or break a change management process it is up to the leaders to ensure that effective communication takes place at all levels. By allowing employees to take part in the change, process leaders are ensuring that employees have a voice this creates a culture of respect, which in turn can decrease resistance, and reduces lean manufacturing process implementations. Senior leadership within organizations need to take part and participate in lean activities; it can be as simple as putting on a pair of jeans and heading to the production floor, employees notice. Organizations can have a positive impact on social change through creating a culture of employees that are involved in organizational change. Employees and leaders of organizations implementing lean manufacturing practices can build on the transformational leadership styles presented in this study to encourage individual motivation and commitment to continuous improvement. Leaders can gain insight by understanding the role employees' play in organizational change, overcoming resistance and sharing skills with others to promote a learning environment.

Changes associated with the implementation of quality systems, such as lean involve both physical and psychological demands on employees (Givhan, 2012). One of the critical success factors necessary for successful implementation of lean systems are change implementers creating effective systems and plans that respond to employees' emotional involvement (Givhan, 2012). These systems could give leaders the tools they need to move forward in process creating, as well as proving employees with satisfaction and feelings of accomplishment.

The implications for positive social change are improved by engaging all employees in the change process. Allowing them to have a voice, in change improvements, motivates employees to take ownership of their jobs, areas, and the organization (Bae et al., 2010). By empowering employees and including employees in the changes within their job areas, leaders could decrease their stress levels and increase responsibilities of employees. These contributions could assist in making lean manufacturing implementations successful and help to move an organization forward.

Conclusions

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore leaders' lived experiences of overcoming resistance to change and the leadership strategies used, specifically in the areas of lean manufacturing implementation. This study may address a gap in literature contribute to the body of knowledge on lean manufacturing program success. The study's focus was on the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations. Making it the only study to combine leadership strategies used to overcome employee resistance to change during lean manufacturing program implementations.

A qualitative phenomenological interview process was used to gain the lived experiences of participants. Based on the lived experiences of leaders who have influenced change management through lean manufacturing program implementation by addressing the strategies needed to overcome employee resistance. The following research questions were used to guide this study:

RQ1: What are the leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change in successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs?

RQ2: What are the lived experiences of leaders who overcame resistance to change while implementing lean manufacturing programs?

The purposefully selected sample of 20 participants was completed. Participants interviewed were employed by a variety of manufacturing organizations in the United

States, and had implemented a lean manufacturing program in the last three years with at least five years of experience in lean manufacturing. Semistructured open-ended interview questions were used to gain the lived experiences from participants and capture the essence of the leadership strategies used in overcoming resistance to change from manufacturing leaders.

Twelve themes emerged from the 20 interviews. These themes revealed themselves through reading and reflection as well as the assistance of the NVivo 11. The 12 themes were as follows: top leadership participation (T1), trust (T2), allowing employees to experiment with processes for their areas (T3), training (T4), process alignment (T5), key performance indicators and metrics (T6), what's in it for me (T7). Additional themes were the following: employee buy in (T8), communication (T9), employee incentives (money and promotions) (T10), job security/preservation (T11), and listening to employees (T12). Conclusions were drawn from the elicitation of the data were several to capture leadership strategies used to overcome resistance to change. The main conclusions suggest that change is indeed a complex phenomenon and employees' resistance to change is a perception duly supported in the literature review and shared by all the leaders who were interviewed in this study. Leadership strategies that drove successful change were approaches that supported employee collaborations and communication through the changes. Leadership strategies employed to overcome resistance to change during lean program implementations were multifaceted and included top leadership participation and communications, as well as listening to employees providing much need strategic input into the change process.

These study results are similar to past research, though with this study the themes that were created showed a difference of importance to members of the lean team. The T12 theme was ranked higher in this study than in past studies, and T7 seemed to rank lower than in past studies. This study is showing that employees are not looking only for how the change will benefit them they are also open to tasks when senior leaders are the drivers of the change and participate in the tasks while listening to employee feedback on the processes that affect their areas.

References

45 C.F.R. §46. (2016).

- Aarons, G. (2006). Transformational and transactional leadership: Association with attitudes toward evidence-based practice. *Psychiatric Services*, 57(8), 1162-1169. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.57.8.1162
- Aba, E. K. (2013). Impact of ISO 9001 certification on United States firms' financial performance. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 33(1), 78-89.doi:10.1108IJQRM-02-2014-0021
- Aborne, S. (2012). An examination of how the Malcolm Baldrige national quality award has evolved (Master's thesis). Retrieved from https://www.nist.gov/baldrige/
- Abu Shosha, G. (2010). Employment of Colaizzi's strategy in descriptive
 phenomenology: A reflection of a researcher. *European Scientific Journal*, 8(27).
 Retrieved from http://eujournal.org
- Agar, M. (1996). *The professional stranger: An informal introduction to Ethnography*. Bradford, UK: Academic Press.
- Agboola, A. A., & Salawu, R. O. (2011). Managing deviant behavior and resistance to change. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6(1), 235–242. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v6n1p235
- Al-Haddad, S., & Kotnour, T. (2015). Integrating the organizational change literature: A model for successful change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 28(2), 234. doi:10.1108/JOCM-11-2013-021
- Amah, E., & Ahiauzu, A. (2013). Employee involvement and organizational

effectiveness. Journal of Management Development, 32(7), 661-674.

doi:10.1108/JMD-09-2010-0064

- Anderson, G. (2015). Resisting organizational change. *International Journal of Advanced Corporate Learning*, 8(1), 48-51. doi:10.3991/ijac.v8i1.4432
- Arneson, H., & Ekberg, K. (2006). Measuring empowerment in working life: A review. Work, 26(1), 37-46. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Atkinson, P. (2013). Change mastery: Lean six sigma and business transformation. *Management Services*, 57(4), 30-35. Retrieved from https://www.atkearney.com/
- Badaracco, J. (2013). *The good struggle: Responsible leadership in an unforgiving world*.Boston, MA: Harvard Business Review Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). Improving Organizational Effectiveness through Transformational Leadership. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Bateh, J., Castaneda, M. E., & Farah, J. E. (2013). Employee resistance to organizational change. *International Journal of Management & Information Systems (Online)*, 17(2), 113. doi:10.19030/ijmis.v17i2.7715
- Battilana, J., & Casciaro, T. (2012). Change agents, networks, and institutions: A contingency theory of organizational change. *Academy of Management Journal*, 55(2), 381–398. doi:10.5465/Amj.2009.0891
- Becker, R. M. (2001). Learning to think lean: Lean manufacturing and the Toyota production system. *Automotive Manufacturing & Production, 113*(6), 64-65.

Retrieved from http://www.lean.org

- Bentz, V. (1995). Human studies. *Science Direct, 18(4),* 435 437. Retrieved from www.sciencedirect.com
- Bernard, H. R. (2000). Social research methods: Qualitative and Quantitative approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Birasnav, M. (2014). Relationship between transformational leadership behaviors and on the profitability of Finnish firms, *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 24(1), 81-106. doi:10.1108/IJOA-03-2014-074
- Bland, D. (2012). *Leadership for effective change implementation: A grounded theory study of leadership.* Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.unl.edu
- Bourne, B. (2015). Phenomenological study of generational response to organizational change. *Journal of Managerial Issues, 27*(1-4), 141-159. Retrieved from http://www.questia.com/library/journal-of-management-issues.html
- Bovey, W., & Hede, A. (2001). Resistance to organizational change: The role of cognitive and affective processes. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 22*(8), 372–382. doi:10.1108/01437730110410099
- Bryman, A. (2006). Integrating quantitative and qualitative research: How is it done? *Qualitative Research, 6*(1), 97-113. doi:10.1177/1468794106058877
- Burgoyne, J. G., & Hodgson, V. E. (1983). Natural learning and managerial action: A phenomenological study in field setting. *Journal of Management Studies*, 20(3), 387-399. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.1983.tb00214.x

Burke, W., & Litwin, G. (1992). A causal model of organization performance and

change. Journal of Management, 18(3), 523-545.

doi:10.1177/014920639201800306

- Burnes, B. (2015). Understanding resistance to change-building on Coch and French.
 Journal of Change Management, 15(2), 92-116.
 doi:10.1080/14697017.2014.96975
- Burns, J. M. (1978). *Leadership*. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Caelli, K. (2001). Engaging with phenomenology: Is it more of a challenge than it needs to be? *Qualitative Health Research*, 11(2), 273.
 doi:10.1177/104973201129118993
- Casey, J., & Wuestman, D. (2015). Lean leadership: Coaching to connect the dots. *Strategic Finance*, *96*(11), 23-25. Retrieved from http://sfmagazine.com
- Castro, H., Putnik, G. D., & Shah, V. (2012). A review of agile and lean manufacturing as issues in selected international and national research and development programs and roadmaps. *The Learning Organization*, *19*(3), 267-289. doi:10.1108/09696471211220064
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y., & Chien, W. (2013). Bracketing in Phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process. *Qualitative Report*, 18(30), 1-9. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Chapman, A. L. N., Johnson, D., & Kilner, K. (2014). Leadership styles used by senior medical leaders. *Leadership in Health Services*, 27(4), 283. doi:10.1108/LHS-03-2014-0022
- Chen, J., & Chen, I. (2013). Don't worry; I'm with you: Can visionary leadership release

neurotic employees for more perceived innovative interactions? Innovation:

Management, Policy & Practice, 15(2), 215-223. doi:10.5172/imp.2013.15.2.215

- Chin, R. (2015). Examining teamwork and leadership in the fields of public administration, leadership, and management. *Team Performance Management*, 21(3/4), 199. doi:10.1108/TPM-07-2014-0037
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Clinebell, S., Skudiene, V., Trijonyte, R., & Reardon, J. (2013). Impact of leadership styles on employee organizational commitment. *Journal of Service Science* (Online), 6(1), 139. Retrieved from http://cluteinstitute.com/ojs/index.php/JSS
- Coch, L., & French, J. R. P., Jr. (1948). Overcoming resistance to change. *Human Relations*, 1, 512–532. doi:10.1177/001872674800100408

Collins, J. (2001). Good to great. New York, NY: Harper Business.

- Coltea, C., & Leonard, D. (2013). Most change initiatives fail -- but they don't have to. *Gallup*. Retrieved from http://www.gallup.com
- Conklin, T. (2014). Phenomenology redux: Doing phenomenology, becoming phenomenological. *Organization Management Journal*, *11*(2), 116-128. doi:10.1080/15416518.2014.929935

Connor, D. (1993). Managing at the speed of change. New York, NY: Random House.

Copeland, D. (2013). Examining the impact of employees' perceived understanding of strategy on engagement. Retrieved from http://sonenshein.rice.edu

Covey, S. (2009) How the best leaders build trust. LeadershipNow. Retrieved from

https://www.leadershipnow.com

- Creasey, T., Taylor, T., Demailly, C., & Brighton, D. (2014). Seven greatest contributors to change management success. *People and Strategy*, *37*(1), 12-16. Retrieved from http://www.prosci.com
- Dartey-Baah, K. (2015). Resilient leadership: A transformational-transactional leadership mix. *Journal of Global Responsibility*, 6(1), 99-112. doi:10.1108/JGR-07-2014-002
- David, E. M., Avery, D. R., Witt, L. A., & McKay, P. F. (2015). A time-lagged investigation of the impact of coworker behaviors on the effects of demographic dissimilarities. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *36*(4), 582-606. doi:10.1002/job.1999
- de Vries, R. E., Bakker-Pieper, A., & Oostenveld, W. (2010). Leadership communication? The relations of leaders' communication styles with leadership styles, knowledge sharing and leadership outcomes. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 25(3), 367-380. doi:10.1007/s10869-009-9140-2
- Defining Leadership. (n.d.). Democratic leadership style. Retrieved from http://www.defining-leadership.com/democratic-leadership-style/
- Dent, E. B., & Susan, G. G. (1999). Challenging "resistance to change." *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *35*(1), 25-41. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2326329
- Deschamps, C., Rinfret, N., Lagace, M. C., & Prive, C. (2016). Transformational leadership and change: How leaders influence their followers' motivation through organizational justice. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 61(3), 194-212.

Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedcommons/

- Dunicn, B., & Keaster, R. (2015). Acceptance of change: Exploring the relationship among psychometric constructs and employee resistance. *International Journal of the Academic Business World*, 9(2), 27-38. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.822
- Edwards, J. R., Cable, D. M., Williamson, I. O., Lambert, L. S., & Shipp, A. J. (2006).
 The phenomenology of fit: Linking the person and environment to subjective experience of person-environment fit. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(4), 802-827. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.91.4.802
- Ejere, E. I., & Ugochukwu, D. A. (2012). Impact of transactional and transformational leadership styles on organisational performance: Empirical evidence from Nigeria. *Journal of Commerce*, 5(1). Retrieved from http://joc.hcc.edu
- Eken, I., Özturgut, O., & Craven, A. E. (2014). Leadership styles and cultural intelligence. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability, and Ethics, 11*(3), 154-165.
 Retrieved from www.na-businesspress.com/JLAE
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*. *4*, 13-35. doi:10.1163/156916212X632943.
- Erwin, D. G., & Garman, A. N. (2010). Resistance to organizational change: Linking research and practice. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 31(1), 39-56. doi:10.1108/01437731011010371
- Fischer, C. T. (2009). Bracketing in qualitative research: Conceptual and practical matters. *Psychotherapy Research*, *19*, 583-590. doi:10.1080/10503300902798375

- Ford, J. D., & Ford, L. W. (2009). Decoding resistance to change. *Harvard Business Review*, 87(4), 99-103. Retrieved from https://hbr.org
- Fusch, P. & Ness, L. (2015). Are we at data saturation yet? Data saturation and qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://nova.edu/tqr
- Garcia-Cabrera, A. M., & Garcia-Barba Hernandez, F. (2014). Differentiating the three components of resistance to change: The moderating effect of organization-based self-esteem on the employee involvement-resistance relation. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 25(4), 441-469. doi:10.1002/hrdq21193.
- Garcia, D., & Gluesing, J. C. (2013). Qualitative research methods in international organizational change research. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 26(2), 423-444. doi:10.1108/09534811311328416
- Gardner, H. (1996). *Leading Minds: An anatomy of leadership*. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *Qualitative Report*, 20(11), 1772-1789. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Gill, M. J. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research.
 Organizational Research Methods, 17(2), 118-137.
 doi:0.1177/1094428113518348
- Gilley, A., Gilley, J., & Kouider, E. (2010). Characteristics of managerial coaching. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 23(1), 53–70. doi:10.1002/piq.20075

- Giorgi, A. (2012). The descriptive phenomenological psychological method. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 3-12. doi:10.1163/156916212x632934
- Given, L. M. (2008). *The Sage encyclopedia of qualitative research methods*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Givhan, R. N. (2012). Comparative analysis of total quality system implementations between 2005 and 2010. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-4-566

Glaser, B. G. (2016). The grounded theory perspective: It's origins and growth. Grounded Theory Review, 15(1), 4-9. Retrieved from http://groundedtheoryreview.com/

- Goleman, D. (2000). Leadership that gets results. *Harvard Business Review*. Retrieved from https://hbr.org
- Goodridge, D., Westhorp, G., Rotter, T., Dobson, R., & Bath, B. (2015). Lean and leadership practices: Development of an initial realist program theory. *BMC Health Service Research*, 15(1), 1-15. doi:10.1186s/12913-015-1030-x
- Grol, R. & Grimshaw, J. (2013). From best evidence to best practice: effective implementation of change in patience care. *Lancet*, 362(9391), 1225-1230. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14546-1
- Guba, E. G. & Lincoln, Y. S. (1989). *The fourth-generation evaluation*. London, England: Sage.
- Hamstra, M. R. W., Van Yperen, N. W., Wisse, B., & Sassenberg, K. (2014).
 Transformational and transactional leadership and followers' achievement goals. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 29(3), 413-425. doi:10.1007/s10869-013-

- Hargis, M. B., Watt, J. D., & Piotrowski, C. (2011). Developing leaders: Examining the role of transactional and transformational leadership across context business. *Organizational Development Journal, 29*(3), 51-66. Retrieved from http://emeraldinsight.com/journal/odj
- Heide, M., & Simonsson, C. (2014). Developing internal crisis communication. Corporate Communications, 19(2), 128-146. doi:10.1108/CCIJ-09-2012-0063.
- Hoflund, A. B. (2013). Exploring the use of grounded theory as a methodological approach to examine the "black box" of network leadership in the national quality forum. *Journal of Health & Human Services Administration, 4,* 469-504. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01344
- Houborg, C. (2010). Implementing a successful lean program: Where do you begin?
 Pharmaceutical Technology Europe, 22(9), 1-4. Retrieved from http://www.pharmtech.com
- Hultman, K. E. (2003). Managing resistance to change. *Encyclopedia of Information Systems*, (pp.693-705). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Husserl, E. (1962). *Ideas: General introduction to pure phenomenology*. New York, NY: Collier.
- Inabinett, J. M., & Ballaro, J. M. (2014). Developing an organization by predicting employee retention by matching corporate culture with employee's values: A correlation study. *Organization Development Journal, 32*(1), 55-74. Retrieved from https://www.highbeam.com/publications/organizational-development-

journal

- Ismail, A., Mohamed, H. A., Sulaiman, A. Z., Mohamad, M. H., & Yusuf, M. H. (2011). An empirical study of the relationship between transformational leadership, empowerment and organizational commitment. *Business and Economics Research Journal, 2*(1), 89-107. Retrieved from http://www.berjournal.com
- Jaimangal-Jones, D. (2014). Utilising ethnography and participant observation in festival and event research. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*, 5(1), 39-55. doi:10.1108/IJEFM-09-2012-0030
- Johannsdottir, L., Olafsson, S., & Davidsdottir, B. (2015). Leadership role and employee acceptance of change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management, 28*(1), 72. doi:10.1108/JOCM-12-2013-0238
- Johnson, N. J. & Klee, T. (2007). Passive-aggressive behavior and leadership styles in organizations. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 14(2), 130-142. doi:10.1177/1071791907308044
- Kathuria, R., Partovi, F. Y., & Greenhaus, J. H. (2010). Leadership practices, competitive priorities, and manufacturing group performance. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, *30*(10), 1080-1105. doi:10.1108/01443571011082535

Karim, A., & Arif-Uz-Zaman, K. (2013). A methodology for effective implementation of lean strategies and its performance evaluation in manufacturing organizations. *Business Process Management Journal, 19*(1), 169-196.
doi:10.1108/14637151311294912

- Khan, M. M., & Rasli, A. M. (2015). Relationship between organization culture, empowerment, and conflict. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 5(1). Retrieved from http://www.econjournals.com
- Kibben, C. (2012). Humor and emotional intelligence: A correlational study of leadership. (Doctoral disertation). Retrieved from http://proquest.com. (Order number 3534887)
- Kim, S., Egan, T. M., Kim, W., & Kim, J. (2013). The impact of managerial coaching behavior on employee work-related reactions. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 28(3), 315-330. doi:10.1007/s10869-013-9286-9
- Kohlbacher, F. (2006). The use of qualitative content analysis in case study research. *Qualitative-research.net*. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net
- Kohles, M., Baker, W., & Donaho, B. (1995). *Transformational leadership: renewing* fundamental values and achieving new relationships in health care. Chicago, IL: American Hospital Association.
- Kotter, J. P. (1996). Leading change. Boston, MA: Harvard Business Review Press.
- Kotter, J. P. (2012). Leading change. Boston, MA: Harvard Business Review Press.
- Kotter, J. P., & Cohen, D. S. (2002). *The heart of change: Real-life stories of how people change their organizations*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Kotter, J.P., & Schlesinger, L. (2008). Choosing strategies for change. *Harvard Business Review*. Retrieved from https://hbr.org
- Kupers, W. (2002). Phenomenology of aesthetic organizing: Ways towards aesthetically responsive organizations. *Consumption, Markets and Culture, 5*(1), 21-46.

doi:10.1080/102538609003082

- Lancaster, G. A., Dodd, S., & Williamson, P. R. (2004). Design and analysis of pilot studies: Recommendations for good practice. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 10(2), 307-12. doi:10.1111/j.2002.384.doc.x
- Lee, S. M., Lee, Z., & Lee, J. (2007). Knowledge transfer in work practice: Adoption and use of integrated information systems. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 107(4), 501-518. doi:0.1108/02635570710740661
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2010). *Practical research: Planning and design* (9th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Leung, L. (2016). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Family Med Prim Care.* doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lewin, K. (1947). Frontiers in group dynamics: Concepts, methods and reality in social science; Social equilibria and social change. *Sage Journals*, 1(1), 5-41. doi:10.1177/001872674700100103
- Lewin, K. (1958). Readings in social psychology. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Likert, J. (2004). *The Toyota way: 14 management principles from the world's greatest manufacturer*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E.G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

- LinkedIn. (2017). About us. Retrieved from https://press.linkedin.com
- Livesay, H. C., Rorke, M. L., & Lux. D. S. (1989). From experience: Technical development and the innovation process. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 6(4), 268-281. doi:10.1016/0737-6782(89)90079-9

- Lorden, A. L., Zhang, Y., Lin, S., & Côté, M. J. (2014). Measure is of success: The role of human factors in lean implementation in healthcare. *The Quality Management Journal*, 21(3), 26-37. Retrieved from https://asq.org/quality-managment/
- Lozano, R. (2012). Are companies planning their organisational changes for corporate sustainability? An analysis of three case studies on resistance to change and their strategies to overcome it. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, 20*(5). doi:10.1002/csr.1290
- Marsh, C. (2001). Degrees of change- resistance or resilience. *Performance Improvement, 40*(3), 29-33. doi:10.1002/pfi.4140400308.
- Martin, I. H., Naylor, A. H., Jefferson, J. K., David, N., & Cavazos, A. (2015). A student perspective on trust and the leader-follower relationship: Implications for leader development. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, 7(2), 31-42. doi:10.1108/PR-09-2013-0162
- Marynell, T. M. (2013). Leadership for success with lean manufacturing: The relationship between style and successful implementation doi:10.1108/17410380610662889
- May, R. (2011, September). Strategic leadership for executives. *BusinessDictionary.com* - Online Business Dictionary. Retrieved from http://www.businessdictionary.com/article/682/strategic-leadership-forexecutives/
- McCloskey, D. (1988). Thick and thin methodologies in the history of economic thought. *The Popperian Legacy in Economics*, 245-257. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge UP.

- McGrath, R. (2013). *The End of Competitive Advantage: How to Keep Your Strategy Moving as*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business Review.
- Meinert, D. (2016). Why employees don't trust their leaders. *SHRM*. Retrieved from https://www.shrm.org
- Meng, X. (2013). Scalable simple random sampling and stratified sampling. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 22(1), 1-9. Retrieved from http://jmlr.org/
- Mento, A., Jones, R., & Dirndorfer, W. (2002). A change management process:Grounded in both theory and practice. *Journal of Change Management*, *3*, 45-59.doi:10.1080/714042520
- Meyer, M., & Botha, E. (2000). Organisation development and transformation in South Africa. Durban, South Africa: LexisNexis Butterworths.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Millett, S. M. (2011). Managers as visionaries: A skill that can be learned. *Strategy & Leadership*, *39*(5), 56-58. doi:10.1108/10878571111161534
- Modgil, S., & Sharma, S. (2016). Total productive maintenance, total quality management, and operational performance: An empirical study of Indian pharmaceutical industry: *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering*, *22*(4). doi:10.1108/JQME-10-2015-0048
- Money-zine.com. (2016). Pacesetting leadership. Retrieved from http://www.moneyzine.com/career-development/leadership-skill/pacesetting-leadership/

Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Murray, A. (2010). *Leadership Styles Management WSJ.com. Guides.wsj.com*. Retrieved from http://guides.wsj.com
- Muo, I. (2014). The other side of change resistance. *International Review of Management* and Business Research, 3(1), 96-112. doi:10.1.1.677.8462
- Ngambi, M. T., & Nkemkiafu, A. G. (2015). The impact of total quality management on firm's organizational performance. *American Journal of Management*, 15(4), 69-85. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com
- Nikolaou, I., Gouras, A., Vakola, M., & Bourantas, D. (2007). Selecting change agents:
 Exploring traits and skills in a simulated environment. *Journal of Change Management*, 7(3-4), 291-313. doi:10.1080/14697010701779173
- Northouse, P. G. (2010). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Nussbaumer, A., & Merkley, W. (2010). The path of transformational change. *Library Management*, *31*(8), 678-689. doi:10.1108/01435121011093441
- Pakdil, F., & Leonard, K. M. (2015). The effect of organizational culture on implementing and sustaining lean processes. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 26(5), 725-743. doi:10.1108/JMTM-08-2013-0112
- Patton, M. D. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Petouhoff, N., Chandler, T., & Montag-Schmaltz, B. (2006). The business impact of change management. *Graziadio Business Review*, 9(3). Retrieved from http://gbr.pepperdine.edu

- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, *17*, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Phillips, J. (1983). Enhancing the effectiveness of organizational change management.
 Human Resource Management, 22(1-2), 183-99. doi:10.1002/hrm.3930220125
- Piderit, S. (2000). Rethinking resistance and recognizing ambivalence: A multidimensional view of attitudes toward an organizational change. *Academy of Management Review*, 25(4), 783-794. doi: 10.5465/AMR.2000.3707722
- Piercy, N. & Rich, N. (2015). The relationship between lean operations and sustainable operations. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 35(2), 282-315. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-03-2014-0143
- Pollack, J. & Pollack, R. (2015). Using Kotter's eight stage process to manage an organisational change program: Presentation and practice. *Systemic Practice and Action Research*, 28, 51-66. doi:10.1007/s11213-014-9317-0.
- Politis, J. D. (2006). Self-leadership behavioral-focused strategies and team performance.
 Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 27(3), 203-216.
 doi:10.1108/01437730610657721
- Preston, G., Moon, J., Simon, R., Allen, S., & Kossi, E. (2015). The relevance of emotional intelligence in project leadership. *Journal of Information Technology* and Economic Development, 6(1), 16-40. Retrieved from www.gsmiijgb.com/Documents/JITED

Prince, P. J. (2013). Developing a quality management system for a clinical investigator

utilizing the ISO 9001 principles. Retrieved from http://www.iso.org

- Pryor, M. G., Tanja, S., Humphreys, J., Anderson, D., & Singleton, L. (2008). Challenges facing change management theories and research. *Delhi Business Review*, 9(1), 1-20. doi:10.1108/09534810810847020.
- Pujol, K. (2012). *How the ability to manage change affects leadership style.*(Unpublished dissertation). Trevecca Nazarene University, Tennessee.
- Radoi, M. A., & Olteanu, A. (2015). Globalization- chances or risks. *Global Economic Observer*, 3(1), 75-79. Retrieved from www.globeco.ro
- Reid, K., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2005). Exploring lived experience: An introduction to interpretative phenomenological analysis. *The Psychologist*, *18*(1), 20-23.
 Retrieved from https://thepsychologist.bps.org.
- Reisel, W. D., Chia, S. L., Maloles, C., & Slocum, J. (2013). The effects of job insecurity on satisfaction and perceived organizational performance. *Journal of Industrial Relations*, 55, 338-355. doi:10.1177/1071791907308055
- Robinson, O.C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41.
 doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rother, M. (2009). Toyota Kata: Managing people for improvement, addictiveness, and superior results. McGraw Hill Professional, 15. Retrieved from http://www-personal.umich.edu
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2005). *Qualitative interviewing the art of hearing data*.Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Schwandt, T. A., & Halpern, E. S. (1988). *Linking Auditing and Meta Evaluation: Enhancing Quality in Applied Research*. Newberry Park, CA: Sage.
- Seidman, I. (2006). Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences (4th ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information, 22*, 63-75. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov
- Simon, M., & Goes, J. (2013). Dissertation and scholarly research recipes for success. Seattle, WA: Dissertation Success LLC. Retrieved from http://www.dissertationrecipes.com
- Smith, D. (2015). Rewriting the Constitution: A critique of "postphenomenology." *Philosophy & Technology*, 28(4), 533-551. doi:10.1007/s13347-014-0175-6
- Smith, D. W. (2009). Phenomenology. *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy*. Retrieved from http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/phenomenology/
- Smith, J. A. (2011). Evaluating the contribution of interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Health Psychology Review*, 5(1), 9-27. Retrieved from doi:10.1080/17437199.2010.510659
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). Interpretative phenomenological analysis: Theory, method, and research. London, England: Sage.
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2007). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. sagepub.com. Retrieved from http://www.sagepub.com

Snee, R. D. (2010). Lean Six Sigma: Getting better all the time. International Journal of

Lean Six Sigma, 1(1), 9-29. doi:10.1108/20401461011033130

- Spangenberg, H., & Theron, C. (2013). A critical review of the Burke-Litwin model of leadership, change, and performance. *Management Dynamics*, 22(2), 29-48. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/management-dynamics
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1998). *Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and* procedures for developing grounded theory, Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *11*(2), 63-75. doi:10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Taylor, C. M., Cornelius, C. J., & Colvin, K. (2014). Visionary leadership and its relationship to organizational effectiveness. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 35(6), 566. Retrieved from doi:10.1108/LODJ-10-2012-0130
- Teddlie, C., & Tashakkori, A. (2009). Foundations of mixed methods research: Integrating quantitative and qualitative approaches in the social and behavioral sciences. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Tesch, R. (1994). *Qualitative research: Analysis types and software tools*. New York, NY: Falmer.
- Testani, M. V., & Ramakrishnan, S. (2012). Lean leadership readiness for change: A methodology for lean change readiness and continuous improvement. *IIE Annual Conference Proceedings*, 1-10. Retrieved from http://leanmeanprocessimprovement.com/

Tetteh-Opai, A., & Omoregie, P. (2015). Influence of transactional leadership style on

administrative effectiveness in sports organisations in Ghana. *Ife Psychology IA*, 23(2), 64-70. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1P3-3846645921/influence-of-transactional-leadership-style-on-administrative

- Thompson, A. A., Peteraf, M. A., Gamble, J. E., & Strickland, A. J. (2014). *Crafting and executing strategies*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Irwin.
- Tosi, H. J. (1982). Toward a paradigm shift in the study of leadership. *Leadership: Beyond establishment views*, 222–233. Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Toussaint, J. S., & Berry, L. L. (2013). Leadership lessons from lean. *Trustee, 66*(10), 21-4, 1. Chicago, IL: Health Forum Inc.
- Universal Teacher. (n.d.). Dependability in qualitative research. Retrieved from http://universalteacher.com/1/dependability-in-qualitative-research/
- U.S. Army. (October 1983). *Military Leadership*. FM 22-100. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- van Paasschen, F. (2015). Globalization from a business leader's point of view. *The Brown Journal of World Affairs, 22*(1), 175-189. Retrieved from https://www.brown.edu
- Varda, D., Jo, A. S., & Miller, S. (2012). A systematic review of collaboration and network research in the public affairs literature: Implications for public health practice and research. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102, 564-71. Retrieved from http://ajph.aphapublications.org

Venn, D. (2012). How employee engagement can drive organizational change. Charity
Village. Retrieved from

https://charityvillage.com/How_Employee_Engagement_Can_Drive_Organizatio nal_Change

- Walden University. (2014). Walden University survey finds schools and universities play important role in positive social change. Retrieved from https://www.waldenu.edu/connect/newsroom/walden-news/2014/0211-surveyfinds-schools-play-important-role-in-positive-social
- Wang, B., Qian, J., Ou, R., Huang, C., Xu, B., & Xia, Y. (2011). Transformational leadership and employees' feedback seeking: The mediating role of trust in leader. *Social Behavior & Personality: An international journal, 44*(7), 1201-1208. doi:10.2224/sbp.2016.44.7.1201
- Wilterdink, N. (2016). *Social change* | *sociology*. *Encyclopedia Britannica*. Retrieved from https://www.britannica.com
- Wisdom, J. P., Cavaleri, M. A., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Green, C. A. (2012).
 Methodological reporting in qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods health services research articles. *Health Services Research*, 47, 721-745.
 doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01344.
- Yahia, Z. M. (2011). Six-sigma: Methodology, tools and its future. *Assembly Automation*, *31*(1), 79-88. doi:10.1108/01445151111104209
- Yang, L. (2012). Implementation of project strategy to improve new product development performance. *International Journal of Project Management*, 30(7), 760. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2011.11.005

Yin, R. K. (1984). Case study research: Design and methods. Newbury Park, CA Sage.

Zacher, H., Pearce, L. K., Rooney, D., & Mckenna, B. (2014). Leaders' personal wisdom and leader-member exchange quality: The role of individualized consideration.
 Journal of Business Ethics, 121(2), 171-187. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1692-4

Appendix A: Introduction Cover Letter

Dear ,

Have you led lean manufacturing program change in a facility, overcoming resistance to change? I am a student pursuing a Ph.D. in Management degree in the College of Management and Technology at Walden University. As part of the fulfillment of the requirements for this degree, I will be conducting research for my doctoral study titled *Qualitative Examination of Strategies to Overcome Resistance to Change in Lean Manufacturing*.

I am requesting your participation based on your background. I am looking for your experience to add to the body of knowledge required to address the leadership strategies for the successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs. This study consists of a preliminary questionnaire and a 30-minute interview via Skype. I will provide you with a consent form prior to participation and a questionnaire. All responses will be kept and all information will be kept confidential. Your participation is very important to the success of this study; however, you may withdraw from the study at any time for any reason should you decide you no longer want to be a part of the study.

Without your participation, this study would not be possible. I look forward to interviewing you in regards to strategies to overcome resistance to change in lean manufacturing. Thank you.

Sincerely,

Elizabeth Burmester

Appendix B: Participant Identification Demographics

Appendix B is the Introductory Questionnaire for this study. The results of the Participant Identification Demographics will determine if the participant meets the requirements of this study. Qualified participants will be selected, specifically, those who have led successful lean program implementations in an organization whose employees were resistant to change. The following information will be used to establish if the needed requirements to participate are met.

- 1. Participant's title
- 2. Participant's company
 - a. Company contact, email and/or phone number
- 3. Participant's company location
- 4. Participant's company product
- 5. Participant's company number of employees
- 6. Previous employer (as it applies to lean implementations only)
 - a. Company contact, email and/or phone number
- 7. Sex of participant, male or female
- 8. Time with current organization in years and months
- 9. Years of Lean Program implementation experience (ISO 9001, 13949, 13485, HACCP, 5S)
- 10. Certifications held
 - a. Issuing body
- 11. Degrees held
- 12. Did you encounter employee resistance within your program implementation?a. Were you successful at overcoming the resistance?
- 13. What kind of program did you implement (ISO 9001, 13949, 13485, HACCP, 5S)?
- 14. Reflecting on the most recent strategic change program you have led:
 - a) Was it a successful lean program? How?
 - b) If yes, did it occur after January 1, 2012?
 - d) How many lean programs have you implemented?
 - c) Briefly in your own words describe the leadership strategies employed
 - to overcome resistance in the program(s) you participated in

Appendix C: Interview Questions

Participation in this interview is completely voluntary. The information that is provided will be audio recorded, but the recording will be done in a manner that is confidential, this interview will not be video recorded.

Questions about leadership strategies:

- 1. Please tell me what leadership strategies leaders who have successfully implemented lean manufacturing programs and overcame resistance to change have used?
 - a. Tell me about a situation where you successfully overcame the most resistance within a group, when implementing a lean manufacturing program/task?
- 2. Please describe the leadership strategies you have used to overcome resistance with lean manufacturing program implementations.
 - a. What do you feel makes employees want to perform at their highest level?
 - b. What are the leadership strategies you used to help manage the challenges associated with the resistance to change?
 - c. Did you implement a leadership strategy to overcome resistance to change that didn't work?
 - i. If so, why didn't it work?

Questions about leadership traits:

- 3. Which leadership traits facilitate successful lean manufacturing program implementations?
- 4. Which leadership traits allow a leader, to overcome the resistance to change?

Questions about the lived experience of leaders who overcame resistance to change:

- 5. Please describe your experience relative to employee resistance within lean program implementations. What specific leadership style and/or traits did you leverage to overcome the resistance?
 - a. Tell me about a situation where you successfully overcame significant individual resistance to change when implementing a lean manufacturing program?
- 6. What is the root cause of employee fear and resistance relative to implementing a lean manufacturing program?

- 7. What are the main reasons lean manufacturing program implementations have been unsuccessful/successful within the organization or organizations you have worked with? Can you tell me about the experience(s) you faced?
- 8. Which leadership style makes a lean manufacturing program successful? Why?
 - a. Tell me about a memorable situation where you were unable to overcome resistance to implementing a lean manufacturing program?
- 9. What do the employees feel leaders should do to engage teams within an organization during a lean manufacturing implementation?
 - a. What do leaders feel they should do to engage their teams?
- 10. Please add any additional thoughts related to overcoming resistance to change during lean manufacturing implementation.

Appendix D: Thank You Letter

Dear Study Participant:

Thank you for participating in my study on strategies to overcome resistance to change in lean manufacturing. I recognize how busy you are and truly appreciate your time and effort. The study transcripts have been reviewed; I have enclosed your transcripts for your review.

Please evaluation the enclosed transcription results, if any changes need to be made, please contact me via email or by phone within seven business days. If I do not hear from you, I will proceed with the data as it is currently. I can be contacted by telephone or email.

If you have any additional questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. Sincerely,

Elizabeth Burmester Walden University Student Appendix E: Expert Panel Introduction Cover Letter

Dear Expert Panel Member,

I am a student pursuing a Ph.D. in the College of Management and Technology at Walden University. As part of the fulfillment of requirements for this degree, I will be conducting qualitative research for my doctoral study titled *Qualitative Examination of Strategies to Overcome Resistance to Change in Lean Manufacturing*. I request your participation to serve on an expert panel to validate my interview questions, which is focused on resistance to change. I am requesting that you review my interview questions to ensure they align with the purpose, problem, and research questions.

If you have questions regarding this request, please contact me. You may also contact my Committee Chair, Dr. Robert DeYoung.

Sincerely,

Elizabeth Burmester

Appendix F: Expert Panel Questionnaire Review

Dear Expert Panel Member,

I am, Elizabeth Burmester, a student pursuing a PhD in the College of Management and Technology at Walden University. As part of the fulfillment of the requirements for this degree, I will be conducting research for my doctoral study titled Qualitative Examination of Strategies to Overcome Resistance to Change in Lean Manufacturing. You have agreed to serve on an expert panel to validate my interview questions for my doctoral study titled Qualitative Examination of Strategies to Overcome Resistance to Change in Lean Manufacturing I am very appreciative that had agreed to serve in this important role.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study is to explore leaders lived experiences of overcoming resistance to change and the leadership's strategies used, specifically in the areas of lean manufacturing implementation. The intent of this study is to focus on leadership strategies needed for organizational lean program change.

Problem Statement

The general problem is lean manufacturing programs are ineffectively implemented 98% of the time (Atkinson, 2013). Less than 24% of that 2% of the companies that have implemented lean manufacturing programs do so unsuccessfully and are unable to sustain long-term results (Atkinson, 2013). The specific problem is that managers lack the information to overcome resistance to change when implementing lean manufacturing programs.

Research Question

RQ1: What are the lived experiences of leaders who overcame resistance to change within an organization while implementing lean manufacturing programs?

Interview Questions

- 1. What are the leadership strategies of leaders who successfully implement lean manufacturing programs, to overcome resistance to change?
- 2. Please describe your experience with employee resistance within lean program implementations. What leadership styles and or traits did you use to overcome the resistance?
- 3. What are employees afraid that causes resistance when it comes to lean manufacturing program implementation?

- 4. What are the perspectives of employees about how leaders could best engage the teams within the organization in lean manufacturing program practices that affect the whole organization? Leaders?
- 5. What leadership style do you feel makes a lean manufacturing program successful? What causes failure?
- 6. What traits do leaders need to possess for successful implementation of lean manufacturing programs, to overcome resistance to change?
- 7. Please describe the leadership strategies you have used to overcome resistance with lean manufacturing program implementations.
 - a. What do you feel makes employees want to perform at their highest level?
 - b. What are the effective leadership strategies used in managing employee resistance to change challenges?
 - c. What did you do if they did not work?
- 8. What do you think are the main reasons for the failed change in lean manufacturing program implementations within your organization or organizations you have worked with?
- 9. Anything else in regards to overcoming resistance to change, while implementing lean manufacturing processes that you would like to include?

Please use this sheet to make your comments and changes as you see fit and return to me at XXX@XXXXX. I will revise interview questions based on the feedback that I receive, from the panel of experts. Once the expert panel questions are collected, I will provide the aggregated data to you for a final review. If you have questions regarding this request, please contact me at (XXX) XXX-XXXX or via email at XXX@XXXXX. You may also contact my Committee Chair, Dr. Robert DeYoung at XXXX@XXXXX.

Thank you in advance for your time and input to this research.

Sincerely,

Elizabeth Burmester